

NAV enters into agreement to acquire AF Legal Pty Ltd

The Board of Navigator Resources Ltd (ASX:NAV) (**NAV** or **the Company**) is pleased to announce that it has executed a conditional agreement to acquire 100% of the issued capital in family law services provider, AF Legal Pty Ltd (**AF Legal**) trading as Australian Family Lawyers.

Completion of the transaction will be subject to a number of conditions, which includes re-compliance with Chapters 1 and 2 of the ASX Listing Rules. Therefore, the transaction may not proceed if those requirements are not met. ASX has absolute discretion in deciding whether or not to re-admit the entity to the Official List of ASX and to quote its securities and therefore the transaction may not proceed if ASX exercises that discretion. Investors should take into account these uncertainties in deciding whether or not to buy or sell the entity's securities.

Transaction summary

NAV will acquire 100% of the issued capital of AF Legal, which will value the combined company at an enterprise value of approximately \$10.6m, subject to a post-completion NTA adjustment. The purchase price will be funded by a combination of shares and cash. The new shares will be issued under a prospectus to raise a minimum of \$4.0m, which will be lodged by the Company as part of the transaction.

Completion of the transaction is subject to a number of conditions precedent, including:

- NAV obtaining all necessary regulatory and shareholder approvals under the ASX Listing Rules, which includes re-compliance with Chapters 1 and 2 of the ASX Listing Rules;
- NAV undertaking a consolidation of its securities;
- NAV undertaking a capital raising pursuant to a prospectus to raise not less than \$4m;
- Adoption of a new long-term incentive plan; and
- Changes to NAV's board and management, which includes the appointment of 1 nominee from AF Legal, and an independent Director.

On completion of the transaction, it is anticipated that two of the current directors of NAV will resign, and 1 nominee from AF Legal (Edward Finn as CEO and Managing Director, biography below) and another non-executive director will join the NAV board. The NAV board is currently conducting a process and considering its options in relation to the appointment of other experienced and suitably qualified Directors (including a Chairman. which will be finalised prior to lodgement of the prospectus.

About AF Legal

AF Legal (also known as Australian Family Lawyers) is an Australian law firm that practices family and relationship law. The firm provides advice to clients in respect of divorce, separation, property and children's matters together with ancillary services such as estate planning.

In 2015, Edward Finn (Founder and Managing Director of AF Legal) identified an opportunity to create a disruptive law firm that challenged the conventional wisdom of relationship driven business development and developed a new model driven by data and digital marketing. As a qualified lawyer and having a background in online business, Edward combined a disruptive client acquisition model with a cost effective and scalable operating model. The initial target market selected was family law, a fast growing, less competitive and very fragmented area of law which was ripe for disruption.

AF Legal opened its first office in Melbourne where its Head Office is located. In January 2017 a further office was opened in Sydney. The Sydney office remains in its infancy with significant upside potential as the business continues to build out the team. Subsequent satellite offices were opened in Werribee (Victoria) in November 2017 and Frankston (Victoria) in February 2018. As part of AF Legal's growth strategy, AF Legal may open or acquire further offices in the immediate future in Greater Sydney, Brisbane and the Gold Coast where it can replicate its success in Melbourne.



What distinguishes AF Legal from its competitors is its marketing model which uses sophisticated and cost effective digital marketing techniques utilised in various online industries in a unique way in the context of family law. This is distinct from traditional, referral-based law firms which often rely on referrals generated by key partners to originate new clients. Importantly AF Legal's client origination model provides the opportunity for AF Legal to scale its business in existing and new geographic regions with reduced reliance on senior lawyers generating work. This in turn enables senior lawyers to focus on file work and provide exceptional client service rather than focus on business development activities.

During FY2018 the business opened approximately 593 files and reported annual revenue of \$4.2 million (audited), +103% on FY2017.

Key risks and dependencies of the AF Legal business includes:

- Reliance on the marketing strategy to generate leads
- Changes to the regulatory environment including legislative reform
- Reliance on key personnel such as the founder, Edward Finn
- Conflict of duties, including the Courts, clients and shareholders

Changes to NAV board and management

On completion of the transaction, it is anticipated that two of the current directors of NAV will resign, being Joshua McKean and Malcolm Keefe. Glen Dobbie and Greg Ruddock, the current CEO and Chairman of NAV respectively will remain on the board as non-executive directors, and 1 nominee from AF Legal (Edward Finn as CEO and Managing Director) and another non-executive director (Peter Bergin) will join the NAV board of directors (biographies below). As noted previously, the NAV board is considering its options in relation to the appointment of other experienced and suitably qualified Directors (including Chairman), which will be finalised prior to lodgement of the prospectus.

Edward Finn - Proposed CEO and Managing Director of AF Legal

Edward is the founder and Managing Director of AF Legal Pty Ltd. He is responsible for the overall strategic direction of the firm.

Prior to founding AF Legal Pty Ltd, Edward worked as a lawyer for a general service firm with an emphasis on relationship and family law, Alpass & Associates. He also co-founded an online travel guide and an online retailer, Tomorrow's Laundry, reflecting his longstanding interest in digital marketing.

Edward completed combined Bachelor of Law/Arts (Media Communications) degrees at the University of Melbourne and is a recipient of the Grumitt Scholarship.

Edward was admitted as a Solicitor in 2012 and currently holds a Principal Practising Certificate issued by the Victorian Legal Services Board & Commissioner.

Peter Bergin – Interim CFO and Proposed Executive Director

Peter Bergin is a partner of Prime Capital, the advisory division of ASX listed Prime Financial Group, and also a partner of the legal services consulting firm ECP Legal.

Prior to his career in corporate advisory, Peter gained over twenty-five years (15 years at Chief Financial Officer level) financial management experience, predominantly in complex international environments; including extensive professional services, health, engineering & infrastructure, overseas development assistance & telecommunications experience.

Peter is an experienced Company Director (GAICD), a Chartered Company Secretary (fellow of ICSA), a



Chartered Accountant (CA ANZ) who is an accredited Business Valuation specialist, and a Fellow of CPA Australia. Peter has Bachelor of Commerce and Bachelor of Arts degrees, a Master of Business Administration, a Master of Applied Finance, a Company Directors diploma, and Graduate Diplomas in Applied Corporate Governance and in Accounting.

Financial information on AF Legal

Please find **attached** to this announcement, audited financial statements for AF Legal for the periods ended 30 June 2016, 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2018.

The below is an extract from AF Legal's audited accounts for the years ended 30 June 2016, 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2018, and also the pro-forma EBITDA (which is unaudited and based on vendor management accounts). AF Legal unaudited management accounts have reported a 34% and 29% increase in revenue and normalised EBITDA respectively for the 5 months trading to November 2018.

AF Legal Pty Ltd - Financial Statements for FY2016 to FY2018

All figures are in A\$ '000			
	Audited	Audited	Audited
Year	FY2016	FY2017	FY2018
Sales revenue	2,071	2,071	4,210
Personnel costs	(782)	(1,348)	(2,123)
Gross profit	1,289	723	2,087
Marketing expenses	(161)	(206)	(331)
Admin expenses	(149)	(264)	(373)
Other expenses	(228)	(216)	(283)
Depreciation	(4)	(10)	(12)
Bad / doubtful debts	(408)	(73)	(30)
Interest expenses	(25)	(64)	(81)
Profit before income tax	314	(111)	976
Income tax expense	(99)	9	(244)
Profit for the year	216	(102)	732
Reported EBITDA (audited)	343	(36)	1,070
Normalisations ^	233	480	264
Underlying EBITDA (unaudited)	576	444	1,334

[^] Normalisation adjustments are proposed vendor adjustments for extraordinary and non-recurring expenses

In terms of the likely effect of the transaction on NAV's financial position, the Company is in the process of preparing a pro-forma balance sheet, which is anticipated to be completed and released to ASX as part of the notice of meeting to approve the transaction.

Consideration payable by NAV

The parties have agreed that, as consideration for 100% of the issued capital of AF Legal, the Company will be:

- (a) making a cash payment of \$2,500,000;
- (b) making a cash payment to extinguish the debt facility held by the vendor of AF Legal secured by an agreement over the business and assets of AF Legal (which must not exceed \$325,000); and



(c) issuing on a post-consolidation basis, based on a deemed issue price of 20 cents per share, 10,875,000 shares to the vendor of AF Legal (being an entity controlled by Edward Finn).

In addition to the above and provided that AF Legal's normalised EBITDA exceeds \$1,000,000 in any half-yearly period, the Company has agreed to make an additional cash payment of \$500,000 to the vendor of AF Legal (or its nominee), payable in two equal (\$250,000) instalments once the audited accounts are finalised.

Capital raising

As part of the transaction, NAV will undertake a capital raising pursuant to a prospectus to raise no less than \$4.0m and a maximum of \$6.5m. Assuming that a 20 for 1 consolidation is completed by NAV, NAV anticipates that the issue price of the shares offered under the prospectus will be 20 cents per share.

The parties have not yet determined whether the capital raising will be underwritten.

Capital structure

NAV's current capital structure is as follows:

Securities	Number of securities
Shares	393.2m
Unlisted options	225.0m

Post-completion of the transaction, assuming that a 20 for 1 consolidation is completed, NAV's proposed capital structure will be as follows:*

Securities	Number of securities
Existing shares	19.7m
Shares issued as consideration	10.9m
Shares from capital raising under prospectus (20 cents per share)	Min. 20.0m
Total shares post-completion of transaction	Min. 50.5m
Existing unlisted options ^	~1.5m
New incentive securities under long-term incentive plan	Up to 10%

^{*} The post-transaction structure is indicative only and is subject to change

Subject to the transaction completing and formal documentation being prepared, a majority of existing NAV option holders have indicated that they will cancel their outstanding options such that approximately 1.5m options will be outstanding immediately after completion.

At completion of the transaction, the vendor of AF Legal will acquire shares that will represent a voting power of at approximately between 17.3% and 21.5% (depending on the size of the capital raising). Accordingly, shareholder approval for the purposes of section 611 (item 7) of the Corporations Act will be sought by the Company in order for the vendor of AF Legal to acquire a relevant interest in excess of 20%.

Additional information

The NAV board confirms that the Company has undertaken appropriate enquiries into the assets and liabilities, financial position and performance, profits and losses, and prospects of the target. Whilst these enquiries are ongoing, the NAV board confirms that based on the enquiries to date, the NAV board is satisfied that the transaction is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.

In the past 6 months, the Company and AF Legal have not issued any securities.

[^] Unlisted options subject to documentation with option holders



Eaton Capital Partners will be entitled to a success fee of approximately \$200K at completion of the Proposed Transaction.

ASX takes no responsibility for the contents of this announcement.

NAV is in compliance with its continuous disclosure obligations under ASX Listing Rule 3.1.

Next steps

A notice of meeting for NAV shareholders and a prospectus to raise a minimum of \$4.0m will be prepared, which will provide detailed information on AF Legal and the transaction, including key risks. NAV expects to dispatch the notice of meeting to shareholders in January 2019.

Indicative timetable*

Event	Date
Lodgement of NAV Notice of Meeting	January 2019
Extraordinary meeting of NAV shareholders	February 2019
Lodgement of Prospectus with ASIC and ASX	February/March 2019
Opening of offers under Prospectus	February/March 2019
Closing of offers under Prospectus	March/April 2019
Completion of Transaction and issue of shares under the Prospectus	March/April 2019
Re-instatement of trading of securities	March/April 2019

^{*} This timetable is indicative only and is subject to change

Contact for further information

For further information, please contact:

Alistair McKeough Company Secretary (02) 8072-1400

Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Contents

For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

	Page
Financial Statements	
Directors' Report	1
Auditor's Independence Declaration	4
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income	5
Statement of Financial Position	6
Statement of Changes in Equity	7
Statement of Cash Flows	8
Notes to the Financial Statements	9
Directors' Declaration	30
Independent Audit Report	31

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Directors' Report 30 June 2018

The director presents his report on AF Legal Pty Ltd for the financial year ended 30 June 2018.

1. General information

Information on directors

The name of the person who has been a director during the year and to the date of this report is:

Edward Finn

Managing Director (February 2015-Current)

Qualifications

Bachelor of Laws and Bachelor of Arts (Media & Communications)

from the University of Melbourne.

Admitted to practise as a Solicitor in 2012 by the Victorian Legal

Services Board & Commissioner.

Currently holds a Principal Practising Certificate issued by the

Victorian Legal Services Board & Commissioner.

Special Resposibilities

As Managing Director of AF Legal Pty Ltd, Edward is responsible for the management, operation and strategic direction of the company.

The Director has been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated.

Edward Finn (Managing Director) has been the company secretary since 27 February 2015.

Principal activities

AF Legal (also known as Australian Family Lawyers) is an Australian law firm that practises family and relationship law. The firm provides advice to clients in respect of divorce, separation, property and children's matters together with ancillary services such as estate planning and litigation.

No significant changes in the nature of the Company's activity occurred during the financial year.

2. Operating results and review of operations for the year

Operating results

The profit of the Company after providing for income tax amounted to \$731,969 (2017: \$101,580 loss).

Dividends paid or recommended

Dividends paid or declared during or since the end of the financial year are as follows:

- A fully franked dividend of \$ 60,000 was paid during the year.
- A fully franked dividend of \$ 177,000 was declared on 30 June 2018 for payment for the year ended 30 June 2018.

Review of operations

The 2018 financial year saw a period of significant growth of Fee Earners (Solicitors), Revenues and Profitability for AF Legal, as demonstrated by the operating result. This was achieved by strong improvement in its Melbourne practice, and from the commencement of its Sydney office in February 2017. Improvement also arose from the refinement and continued optimisation of AF Legal's digital marketing model.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Directors' Report 30 June 2018

2. Operating results and review of operations for the year

Review of operations

This highlights what distinguishes AF Legal from its competitors, the use of cost effective digital marketing techniques to acquire clients. This is distinct from traditional, referral-based law firms which often rely on referrals generated by senior lawyers – predominately key partners – to originate new clients.

During the year a number of 'one-off' expenses were incurred that impacted upon reported profitability. These included significant corporate advisory costs relating to a potential restructuring initiative discussed later in this report, and one-off recruitment costs relating to the expansion into Sydney. It is noted that reported EBITDA, i.e Profit Before Tax adjusted for Depreciation and Interest expenses was \$1.069m. Whilst not subject to audit procedures or verification, management estimates that the exclusion of the items above translates to an underlying EBITDA in excess of \$1.3m.

The second half of 2018 saw further improvements in run rate profitability which are anticipated to continue throughout 2019.

3. Other items

Significant changes in state of affairs

There have been no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company during the year.

Events after the reporting date

In August 2018, AF Legal entered into a non-binding Heads of Agreement with an ASX listed company, which is currently suspended from trading, to implement a proposal under which the listed company would acquire 100% of the share capital of AF Legal for a mixture of cash and share consideration. The proposal would lead to the ASX listed company changing its principal undertaking, and to commence re-trading as AF Legal, upon its reinstatement to the official list of the ASX.

Subject to regulatory (ASIC and ASX) approvals this process would prospectively occur in the first 6 months of the 2019 calendar year.

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Company in future financial years.

Future developments and results

Likely developments in the operations of the Company and the expected results of those operations in future financial years have not been included in this report as the inclusion of such information is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Company.

Environmental issues

The Company's operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulations under a law of the Commonwealth or of a state or territory of Australia.

Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditors

No indemnities have been given or insurance premiums paid, during or since the end of the financial year, for any person who is or has been an officer or auditor of AF Legal Pty Ltd.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Directors' Report 30 June 2018

Auditor's independence declaration

The lead auditor's independence declaration in accordance with section 307C of the *Corporations Act 2001*, for the year ended 30 June 2018 has been received and can be found on page 4 of the financial report.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors:

Director:	Km/	-
Edward Finn		
Dated this	30th day	November f2018

MOORE STEPHENS

Moore Stephens Audit (Vic)

Level 18, 530 Collins Street Melbourne Victoria 3000 +61 (0)3 9608 0100

Level 1, 219 Ryrie Street Geelong Victoria 3220 +61 (0)3 5215 6800

victoria@moorestephens.com.au www.moorestephens.com.au

AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER S 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 TO THE DIRECTOR OF AF LEGAL PTY LTD

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2018, there have been:

- i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the *Corporations Act 2001* in relation to the audit; and
- ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

MOORE STEPHENS AUDIT (VIC)
ABN 16 847 721 257

RYAN LEEMON

Partner

Audit & Assurance Services

Melbourne, Victoria

30 November 2018

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

		20	18	20	17
	Note	\$		\$	
Revenue	4		4,209,608		2,070,887
Personnel costs	5	_	(2,123,021)		(1,348,062)
Gross profit			2,086,587		722,825
Marketing expenses			(330,935)		(205,901)
Administrative expenses			(373,118)	V.	(264,142)
Other expenses			(282,597)	100	(216,310)
Depreciation			(12,287)	Ki.	(10,047)
Bad/doubtful debts			(30,005)	Ü.	(72,844)
Interest Expenses		_	(81,470)	è	(64,102)
Profit before income tax			976,175		(110,521)
Income tax (expense)/benefit	6		(244,206)		8,941
Profit/(loss) for the year		_	731,969		(101,580)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year			731,969		(101,580)

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Statement of Financial Position As At 30 June 2018

	Note	2018 \$	2017 \$
ASSETS			
CURRENT ASSETS			
Cash on hand	7	457	5,147
Trade and other receivables	8	1,151,190	630,845
Other assets	11	51,287	37,489
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS		1,202,934	673,481
NON-CURRENT ASSETS			
Loan to Directors	9	1,054,949	751,516
Property, plant and equipment	10	27,214	
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)	19	10,360	(18,717)
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS		1,092,523	757,100
TOTAL ASSETS		2,295,457	1,430,581
CURRENT LIABILITIES Trade and other payables Borrowings Current tax liabilities/(receivable) Short-term provisions TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES Long-term provisions TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES NOTAL LIABILITIES NET ASSETS	12 13 19 14	431,489 1,287,694 124,170 96,756 1,940,109 7,312 7,312 1,947,421 348,036	1,154,725 (27,268) 40,305 1,574,098 3,416 3,416 1,577,514
EQUITY Issued capital Retained earnings TOTAL EQUITY	15 16	100 347,936 348,036 348,036	(147,033) (146,933)

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Statement of Changes in Equity For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

2	^	4	0

2018				
		Ordinary Shares	Retained Earnings	Total
		\$	\$	\$
Balance at 1 July 2017		100	(147,033)	(146,933)
Profit or loss for the year		<u>.</u>	731,969	731,969
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners	20		(237,000)	(237,000)
Dividends paid or provided for	20	 	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Balance at 30 June 2018		100	347,936	348,036
2017		Ordinary Shares	Retained Earnings	Total
		\$	\$	\$
Balance at 1 July 2016		100	250,547	250,647
Profit or loss for the year		2	(101,580)	(101,580)
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners Dividends paid or provided for	20		(296,000)	(296,000)
Balance at 30 June 2017		100	(147,033)	(146,933)

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Statement of Cash Flows For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

		Note	2018 \$	2017 \$
		Note	Þ	Ψ
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:			4,013,515	2,634,576
Receipts from customers				
Payments to suppliers and employees			(3,427,206) (81,470)	
Interest paid			(121,845)	100 0000 10000
Income taxes paid	8			90-25-00 A (1903/ADV V)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities		25	382,994	204,081
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:				
Payments for property, plant & equipment			(15,200)	(10,136)
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities			(15,200)	(10,136)
			\	
THE STATE OF THE S				
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:			(505,453)	(555,629)
Related party loan drawings/advances External loan funding			163,926	15,698
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities			•	(500,004)
Net cash provided by/(used in) illiancing activities			(341,527)	(539,931)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held			26,267	(345,986)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of			Venezio i inspecialisti il consecciali inspeciali il consecciali il consecciali in consecciali i	
year			(1,076,650	(730,664)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial		7	// 050 000	(4.070.050)
year		7	(1,050,383	(1,076,650)

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

The financial report covers AF Legal Pty Ltd as an individual entity. AF Legal Pty Ltd is a for-profit proprietary Company, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.

1. Basis of Preparation

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards and the *Corporations Act 2001*.

Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless otherwise stated.

The functional and presentation currency of AF Legal Pty Ltd is Australian dollars. The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded off to the nearest dollar unless stated otherwise.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Income Tax

The tax expense recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is comprised of current income tax expense plus deferred tax expense (being the movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities and unused tax losses during the year).

Current tax is the amount of income taxes payable (recoverable) in respect of the taxable profit (loss) for the year and is measured as the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the taxation authorities, using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Current tax liabilities (assets) are measured as the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the relevant taxation authority.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences which are determined by comparing the carrying amounts of tax bases of assets and liabilities to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and losses can be utilised.

Current and deferred tax is recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period except where the tax arises from a transaction which is recognised in other comprehensive income or equity, in which case the tax is recognised in other comprehensive income or equity respectively.

(b) Leases

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease term.

(c) Revenue and other income

Revenue comprises Legal fees and disbursement from payments on behalf of the client.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company and specific criteria relating to the type of

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(c) Revenue and other income

revenue as noted below, has been satisfied.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is presented net of returns, discounts and rebates.

Rendering of services

Revenue in relation to rendering of services is time (hourly based) and recognised depending on whether the outcome of the services can be estimated reliably. Professional fees represent amounts chargeable to clients for professional services provided during the year inclusive of recoverable expenses. Such income is only recognised upon delivery of services.

Services provided to clients, which at balance date have not been billed, are recognised as income net of accrued non recoverable fees.

Recognition of unbilled services as revenue is based on an assessment of fair value of the service provided as a proportion and total engagement value. Where the right to receive payment is contingent on factors external to the companies' control. Revenue is only recognised (above any engagement fee) when the contingent event occurs.

(d) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value, and are subsequently reduced for estimated irrecoverable amounts. A provision for impairment and trade receivable (including work in progress) is established when there is objective evidence that the company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original term of the engagement.

Collectability is reviewed an ongoing basis. Debts known to be uncollectable are written off by reducing the carrying amounts directly. A provision raised where there is objective evidence of non-collectability.

(e) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

(f) Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).

Receivables and payable are stated inclusive of GST.

Cash flows in the statement of cash flows are included on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(g) Property, plant and equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment.

Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the assets useful life to the Company, commencing when the asset is ready for use.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable asset are shown below:

Fixed asset class	Depreciation rate
Fixtures and fittings	20%
Computer Equipment	33.33%
Low Value Asset Pool	18.50%

At the end of each annual reporting period, the depreciation method, useful life and residual value of each asset is reviewed. Any revisions are accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate.

(h) Financial instruments

Financial instruments are recognised initially using trade date accounting, i.e. on the date that the Company becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

On initial recognition, all financial instruments are measured at fair value plus transaction costs (except for instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss where transaction costs are expensed as incurred).

Financial Assets

Financial assets are divided into the following categories which are described in detail below:

loans and receivables;

Financial assets are assigned to the different categories on initial recognition, depending on the characteristics of the instrument and its purpose. A financial instrument's category is relevant to the way it is measured and whether any resulting income and expenses are recognised in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the 'finance income' or 'finance costs' line item respectively.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They arise principally through the provision of goods and services to customers but also incorporate other types of contractual monetary assets.

After initial recognition these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. Any change in their value is recognised in profit or loss.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(h) Financial instruments

The Company's trade and other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments.

In some circumstances, the Company renegotiates repayment terms with customers which may lead to changes in the timing of the payments, the Company does not necessarily consider the balance to be impaired, however assessment is made on a case-by-case basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities 'at fair value through profit or loss' or other financial liabilities depending on the purpose for which the liability was acquired.

The Company's financial liabilities include borrowings, trade and other payables, which are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Impairment of financial assets

At the end of the reporting period the Company assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

Financial assets at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial assets original effective interest rate.

The amount of the impairment is the difference between the net carrying amount and the present value of the future expected cash flows associated with the impaired receivable.

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against other expenses in profit or loss.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term investments which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Maturity is usually within 3 months.

For cashflow disclosure, overdrafts are considered cash.

(j) Employee benefits

Provision is made for the Company's liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to the end of the reporting period. Employee benefits that are expected to be wholly settled within one year have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.

Employee benefits expected to be settled more than one year after the end of the reporting period have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits. In determining the liability, consideration is given to employee wage increases and the probability that the employee may satisfy vesting requirements. Cashflows are discounted using market yields on high quality

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(j) Employee benefits

corporate bond rates incorporating bonds rated AAA or AA by credit agencies, with terms to maturity that match the expected timing of cashflows. Changes in the measurement of the liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Defined contribution schemes

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods in which services are provided by employees.

(k) Comparative Amounts

Comparatives are consistent with prior years, unless otherwise stated.

(I) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations

Accounting Standards issued by the AASB that are not yet mandatorily applicable to the Group, together with an assessment of the potential impact of such pronouncements on the Group when adopted in future periods, are discussed below:

AASB 9 Financial Instrument

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard replaces all previous versions of AASB 9 and completes the project to replace IAS 39 'Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement'. AASB 9 introduces new classification and measurement models for financial assets. A financial asset shall be measured at amortised cost, if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, which arise on specified dates and solely principal and interest. All other financial instrument assets are to be classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss unless the entity makes an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on equity instruments (that are not held-for-trading) in other comprehensive income ('OCI'). For financial liabilities, the standard requires the portion of the change in fair value that relates to the entity's own credit risk to be presented in OCI (unless it would create an accounting mismatch). New simpler hedge accounting requirements are intended to more closely align the accounting treatment with the risk management activities of the entity. New impairment requirements will use an 'expected credit loss' ('ECL') model to recognise an allowance. Impairment will be measured under a 12-month ECL method unless the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition in which case the lifetime ECL method is adopted. The standard introduces additional new disclosures. The Entity will adopt this standard from 1 July 2018 and is still assessing the impact of its adoption on the financial statements.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customer

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard provides a single standard for revenue recognition. The core principle of the standard is that an entity will recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The standard will require: contracts (either written, verbal or implied) to be identified, together with the separate performance obligations within the contract; determine the transaction price, adjusted for the time value of money excluding credit risk; allocation of the transaction price to the separate performance obligations on a basis of relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service, or estimation approach if no distinct observable prices exist; and recognition of revenue when each performance obligation is satisfied. Credit risk will be presented separately as an expense rather than adjusted to revenue. For goods, the performance obligation would be satisfied when the customer obtains control of the goods. For services, the performance obligation is satisfied when the service has been provided, typically for promises to transfer services to customers. For performance obligations satisfied over time, an entity would select an appropriate measure of progress to determine how much revenue should be recognised as the performance obligation is satisfied.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(I) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations

Contracts with customers will be presented in an entity's statement of financial position as a contract liability, a contract asset, or a receivable, depending on the relationship between the entity's performance and the customer's payment. Sufficient quantitative and qualitative disclosure is required to enable users to understand the contracts with customers; the significant judgements made in applying the guidance to those contracts; and any assets recognised from the costs to obtain or fulfil a contract with a customer. The Entity will adopt this standard from 1 July 2018 and is still assessing the impact of its adoption on the financial statements

AASB 16 Leases

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The standard replaces AASB 117 'Leases' and for lessees will eliminate the classifications of operating leases and finance leases. Subject to exceptions, a 'right-of-use' asset will be capitalised in the statement of financial position, measured at the present value of the unavoidable future lease payments to be made over the lease term. The exceptions relate to short-term leases of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets (such as personal computers and small office furniture) where an accounting policy choice exists whereby either a 'right-ofuse asset is recognised or lease payments are expensed to profit or loss as incurred. A liability corresponding to the capitalised lease will also be recognised, adjusted for lease prepayments, lease incentives received, initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of any future restoration, removal or dismantling costs. Straight-line operating lease expense recognition will be replaced with a depreciation charge for the leased asset (included in operating costs) and an interest expense on the recognised lease liability (included in finance costs). In the earlier periods of the lease, the expenses associated with the lease under AASB 16 will be higher when compared to lease expenses under AASB 117. However EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation) results will be improved as the operating expense is replaced by interest expense and depreciation in profit or loss under AASB 16. For classification within the statement of cash flows, the lease payments will be separated into both a principal (financing activities) and interest (either operating or financing activities) component. For lessor accounting, the standard does not substantially change how a lessor accounts for leases. The Entity will adopt this standard from 1 July 2019 and is still assessing the impact of its adoption on the financial statements.

(m) Going concern

The statement of financial position shows a deficiency in working capital (current assets less current liabilities) of \$737,175 (2017: \$873,617).

The deficiency derives predominantly from the loan receivable from Directors of \$1,054,944 (2017: \$751,516) being classified as non-current as it is on Division 7A repayments terms over 7 years, (refer to note 9).

Despite the above circumstances the Director deems the going concern basis of financial statement preparation to be appropriate, noting all obligations are expected to be settled as and when they fall due and external borrowing obligations remain within terms. Further, as detailed at notes 9 and 23, should the contingent share sale take place, the Director's loan will be recovered in full from the current Director despite the non-current classification of the loan at 30 June 2018 (a condition precedent), bridging the working capital deficiency disclosed.

3. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The director makes estimates and judgements during the preparation of these financial statements regarding assumptions about current and future events affecting transactions and balances.

These estimates and judgements are based on the best information available at the time of preparing the financial statements, however as additional information is known then the actual results may differ from the estimates.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

3. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The significant estimates and judgements made have been described below.

Key estimates - fair value of financial instruments

The Company has certain financial assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value. Where fair value has not able to be determined based on quoted price, a valuation model has been used. The inputs to these models are observable, where possible, however these techniques involve significant estimates and therefore fair value of the instruments could be affected by changes in these assumptions and inputs.

Key estimates - revenue recognition - WIP

The Company undertakes engagements which span a number of reporting periods. Recognition of revenue in relation to these contracts involves a determination of the timing for revenue earned. The assumptions are based on the information available to management, such as cost per hour and amount of hours incur in each engagement at the reporting date, however future changes or additional information may mean the expected revenue recognition pattern has to be amended and/or provided for if recoverability is uncertain (refer note 2c).

Key estimates - receivables

The receivables at reporting date have been reviewed to determine whether there is any objective evidence that any of the receivables are impaired. An impairment provision is included for any receivable where the entire balance is not considered collectible. The impairment provision is based on the best information at the reporting date.

Key judgments - taxes

Deferred tax assets

Determining income tax provisions involves judgment on the tax treatment of certain transactions. Deferred tax is recognised on tax losses not yet used and on temporary differences where it is probable that there will be taxable revenue against which these can be offset. Management has made judgments as to the probability of future taxable revenues being generated against which tax losses will be available for offset based on budgets, current and future expected economic conditions.

4. Revenue and Other Income

Revenue from continuing operation	2018 \$	2017 \$
Sales revenue - Professional fees	4,174,628	2,054,002
Finance income - Interest received	34,980	16,885
Other revenue		N
Total Revenue	4,209,608	2,070,887

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

5. Personnel Costs

	Personnel costs include the following specific expenses:				
	reisonnel costs include the following specime expenses.	201	8	2017	
		\$		\$	
Wages ar	nd Salaries		1,407,257	874,	354
	benefit expenses		149,429	190,	006
Profession			430,896	202,	174
	uation contributions		135,439	81,	528
0.50		-	2,123,021	1,348,	062
Total per	sonnel costs		2,123,021	1,040,	002
6.	Income Tax Expense				
	(a) The major components of tax expense (income) comprise:	201	8	2017	
		\$		\$	
1.628 1936		Ψ	298,400		402)
Current			(29,077)		514
Deferre			(23,077)		170)
	on of cumulative error		-	(0)	170)
	over) provision in		(25,117)	25	,117
respect	of prior years	30	2 10 11 1500		,941)
Total ince	ome tax expense	(244,206	(0	,941)
	(h) Becausilistics of income tay to accounting profit:				
	(b) Reconciliation of income tax to accounting profit:	201	18	2017	
		\$		\$	
Drima foo	ie tax payable on profit from				
	activities before income tax at			7	2.2124
	017: 27.5%)		268,448	(30	,393)
Add:					
Tax effect	t of:				
	uctible expenses		875	4	,505_
			269,323	(25	,888)
			200,020	(American	,
Less:					
Tax effec			10 E 4 4 H	. 40	047
- PY (ove	rprovision)/underprovision		(25,117) 10	,947
Income ta	ax expense	h	244,206	(8	<u>,941)</u>
Weighten	l average effective tax rate		25 %	6	(8)%
vvoignieu	arolage onsolite lan late				

The decrease in the weighted average effective tax rate for 2018 is a result of overprovison of \$25,117.

7.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Cash on hand

7.	Cash on hand	2018	20	17
		\$	\$	
Cash in ha	and	97	457	5,147
			457	5,147
	Reconciliation of cash			
	Cash and Cash equivalents reported in the statement of cash flows are restatement of financial position as follows:	conciled to t	he equivale	nt items in the
	N	ote		500 O40 N
Cash on h			457	5,147
Bank over	drafts 1	3 (1	,050,840)	(1,081,797)
Balance a	s per statement of	(1	,050,383)	(1,076,650)
8.	Trade and Other Receivables			
CURREN	Γ	-	007.005	E01 002
Trade rec			,037,805	501,982
Provision	for impairment	(a)	(7,126)	(=)
		1	,030,679	501,982
Other rec	eivables (Work in progress)		108,748	114,381
	eivables (Unbilled		11,763	14,482
Total cur	rent trade and other es	1	,151,190	630,845
	(a) Impairment of receivables			
	Reconciliation of changes in the provision for impairment of receivables is	as follows:		151,374
	t beginning of the year			101,074
	impairment loss		30,005	72,844
recognise	o n of impairment		(22,879)	(224,218)
	at end of the year		7,126	-
Dalance	a one of the year.			

(b) Credit risk

The entity has no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to any single counterparty other than those receivables specifically mentioned above. The main source of credit risk to the entity is considered to be related to class of assets described as "trade and other receivables".

The following table details the Entity's trade receivables exposed to credit risk with ageing analysis and impairment provided for thereon.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

8. Trade and Other Receivables

(b) Credit risk

Amounts are considered as "past due" when the debt has not been settled within the term and conditions agreed between the Entity and the clients.

Receivables that are past due are assessed for impairment by ascertaining solvency of the debtor and are provided for where there are specific circumstances indicating that the debt may not be fully repaid to the Entity. The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms (as detailed in the table below are considers to be high credit quality.

	2018	2017
	\$	\$
0-30 days	502,122	325,191
31-60 days	163,394	115,156
61-90 days	101,674	35,487
91+ days (not past due or not impaired)	384,000	155,011
ACCOUNTS A COMPANIANCE OF	1,151,190	630,845
9. Loans and Advances - Non-Current	2018	2017
	\$	\$
Loans to Directors	1,054,949	751,516
The state of the s	1,054,949	751,516

(a) Loan to Directors are on Division 7A terms with a minimum interest term applied in accordance with legislation.

As detailed at note 2(m) despite the Director loan being classified as non-current at 30 June 2018, a requirement of the non-binding Heads of Agreement referred to is that all director's loans are required to be fully paid prior to completion. This means that the full balance may be recovered within 12 months should the term detailed at note 23 be met.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

10. Property, plant and equipment

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT	2018	2017
	\$	\$
Fixtures and Fittings At cost Accumulated depreciation	26,608 (8,172)	17,440 (4,201)
Total furniture, fixtures and fittings	18,436	13,239
Computer equipment At cost Accumulated depreciation	26,475 (18,760)	21,686 (10,624)
Total computer equipment	7,715	11,062
Low value asset pool At cost Accumulated depreciation	1,242 (179)	-
Total low value asset pool	1,063	-
Total property, plant and equipment	27,214	24,301

(a) Movements in carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the end of the current financial year:

the end of the current illiancial year.	Fixtures and Fittings \$	Computer Equipment \$	Low Value Asset Pool \$	Total
Year ended 30 June 2018				04.204
Balance at the beginning of year	13,239	11,062	-	24,301
Additions	9,168	4,790	1,242	15,200
Depreciation expense	(3,971)	(8,137)	(179)	(12,287)
Balance at the end of the year	18,436	7,715	1,063	27,214

	Fixtures and Fittings	Computer Equipment \$	Low Value Asset Pool \$	Total \$
Year ended 30 June 2017	14,639	9,573		24,212
Balance at the beginning of year Additions	1,907	8,229	= //	10,136
Depreciation expense	(3,307)	(6,740)		(10,047)
Balance at the end of the year	13,239	11,062	-	24,301

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

11. Other Assets	2018	2017
	\$	\$
CURRENT	T 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
Prepayments	50,7	
Other assets	1,	1,120
	51,2	287 37,489
12. Trade and Other Payables	2018 \$	2017 \$
Current		
Trade payables	132,9	9 20 51,432
Other payables	38,4	406 28,831
GST payable	154,	069 252,474
Accrued expenses	106,	094 73,599
····	431,	489 406,336

Trade and other payables are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are normally settled within 30 days. The carrying value of trade and other payables is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value due to the short-term nature of the balances.

13. Borrowings	2018 \$	2017 \$
CURRENT		
Secured liabilities:		4 004 707
Bank overdraft	1,050,840	1,081,797
Credit card	46,998	40,565
Business loan	150,151	-
Other financial liabilities	39,705	32,363
Total current borrowings	1,287,694	1,154,725

Facilities held with Westpac include:

- Overdraft facility (1,200,000)
- Banker' undertaking facility (84,476)
- Business loan (400,000 facility)
- Credit card facility (50,000)

Limit of finance agreement dated 2 June 2018 is \$1,684,476 includes the overdraft facility, the Banker' undertaking and the business loan limited guarantee and indemnity by Edward Finn. Total unused portions are disclosure in note 25(b).

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

13. Borrowings

(a) Defaults and breaches

During the current and prior year, there were no defaults or breaches on any condition contained in binding facilities.

14. Provisions		0047	
	2018	2017	
	\$	\$	
CURRENT		69,784	36,786
Annual leave Provision Straight Line Rental 17.0	b)	26,972	3,519
		96,756	40,305
NON-CURRENT Long service leave	No.	7,312	3,416
		7,312	3,416
15. Issued Capital	2018	2017	
	\$	\$	
(2017: 100) Ordinary shares		100	100
Total		100	100

(a) Ordinary shares

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company.

(b) Capital Management

The key objectives of the Company when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern and maintain optimal benefits to stakeholders. The Company defines capital as its equity and net debt.

The company's debt and capital includes ordinary shares capital and financial liabilities, supported by financial assets.

There are not externally imposed capital requirements.

Management effectively manages the Company's capital by assessing the financial risk and adjusting its capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses include the managements of debt levels, distributions to shareholders and share issues.

There has been no change to capital risk management policies during the year. Gearing ratios are not generally applicable to services companies who customarily repatriate all retained earnings to shareholders to the extent that they are not required for immediate working capital. However the company's strategy is to ensure that its debt is no more than twice its future maintainable EBITDA, generally defined as budgeted EBITDA for the next

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

15. Issued Capital

(b) Capital Management financial year. The Debt to EBITDA ratio was less than 1 time at June 17 and June 18, based upon budgets for the succeeding financial year.

16. Retained Earnings	2018	2017
	\$	\$
Retained earnings (accumulated losses) at the beginning of the financial year Net profit/(loss) Distribution to shareholders	(147,03 731,90 (237,00	69 (101,580)
Retained earnings at end of the financial year	347,9	36 (147,033)

17. Capital and Leasing Commitments

The Company has the following commitments relating to operating leases:

(a) Finance Leases	2018	2017
	\$	\$
Minimum lease payments: - not later than one year - between one year and five years Minimum lease payments	185,5 409,8 595,4	66 520,130
Present value of minimum lease payments	595,4	

Operating leases are in place for Melbourne and Sydney offices. Lease payments are increased on an annual basis to reflect market rentals.

(b) Straight lining of leases

Lease agreement for Melbourne office signed on 25 July 2017 states a rent abatement period commencing on 18 April 2017 and expiring on 17 April 2020 of \$114,846.

Post abatement rental payments	107,821 (134,793)	19,721 (23,240)
Straight lining	(26,972)	(3,519)

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

18. Financial Risk Management

The Company is exposed to a variety of financial risks through its use of financial instruments.

The Company's overall risk management plan seeks to minimise potential adverse effects due to the unpredictability of financial markets.

The most significant financial risks to which the Company is exposed to are described below:

Specific risks

- Liquidity risk
- Credit risk
- Market risk currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk

Financial instruments used

The principal categories of financial instrument used by the Company are:

- Trade receivables
- Cash at bank
- Bank overdraft

Trade and other payables

Loans and receivables
Financial assets at fair value
Financial liabilities at fair value
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

2018	2	017
\$		\$
2,206,	139	1,382,361
	457	5,147
(1,287,	694)	(1,154,725)
(633,	632)	(434,705)
285,	270	(201,922)

Objectives, policies and processes

The Director has an overall responsibility for the establishment of AF Legal Pty Ltd's financial risk management framework. This includes the development of policies covering specific areas such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and the use of derivatives.

Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and AF Legal Pty Ltd's activities.

The day-to-day risk management is carried out by AF Legal Pty Ltd's finance function under policies and objectives which have been approved by the Director. Objectives and policies include monitoring the levels of exposure to credit and liquidity risks.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

18. Financial Risk Management

Objectives, policies and processes

The Director receives monthly reports which provide details of the effectiveness of the processes and policies in place.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the Company's management of working capital and the finance charges and principal repayments on its debt instruments. It is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Company manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for long-term financial liabilities as well as preparing cash flow analyses in relation to its operating, investing and financing activities. At the reporting date, these reports indicate that the Company expected to have sufficient liquid resources to meet its obligations under all reasonably expected circumstances and will not need to draw down any of the financing facilities.

Financial guarantee liabilities are treated as payable on demand since AF Legal Pty Ltd has no control over the timing of any potential settlement of the liabilities. The timing of cash flows presented in the table to settle financial liabilities reflects the earliest contractual settlement dates and does not reflect management's expectations that banking facilities will be rolled forward.

The amounts disclosed in the table are the undiscounted contracted cash flows and therefore the balances in the table may not equal the balances in the statement of financial position due to the effect of discounting.

The table/s below reflect maturity analysis for financial assets.

	1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -	e Interest ate	Within 1 yea	r	Over 1 year		Total	
	2018	2017	2018	2017	2018	2017	2018	2017
	%	%	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$
Financial assets - cash flows realisable Cash and cash								IE 2729
equivalents	-		457	5,147	-	-	457	5,147
Trade, term and loans receivables	# .	1	1,151,190	630,845	-	-	1,151,190	630,845
Loans to Director	-	12 6	-	-	1,054,949	751,516		751,516
Financial liabilities	4.85	4.55	(1,287,694)	(1,154,725)	:=0	(m.)	55 050 1511 DA	(1,154,725)
Trade payables	5 🛎	9 - 9	(431,489)	(406,336)	•	-	(431,489)	(406,336)
Provision for Straight line rental	-	-	(26,972)	(3,519)	-	-	(26,972)	
Tax liabilities	Ħ	-	(175,171)	(24,850)		(2)	(175,171)	(24,850)
Total anticipated outflows			(769,679)	(953,438)	1,054,949	751,516	285,270	(201,922)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Company.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

18. Financial Risk Management

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposure to clients in the form of outstanding receivables.

The Company has adopted a policy of dealing with creditworthy clients as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. This includes initial monitoring systems to determine the client's capacity to pay. Additionally in accordance with trust guidelines relating to the administration of legal practices, customers where applicable are required to deposit sums into a trust account in advance of work being performed on a matter.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of clients. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable.

The Director receives monthly reports summarising the turnover, trade receivables balance and ageing profile of each of all matters.

Management considers that all the financial assets that are not impaired for each of the reporting dates under review are of good credit quality.

19. Tax assets and liabilities

(a)	Current Tax Liability		
X-7	8(WAR SC	2018	2017
		\$	\$
Balance at the s	tart of the year	27,268	(119,173)
Income Tax	endrone data speciale 💌 idi widi:	(298,400)	58,402
Tax payments		121,845	113,156
Under/Over prov	vision	25,117	(25,117)
Current tax liab	vilities	(124,170)	27,268
(b)	Deferred Tax Assets		
(6)	Deletied Tax 703000	2018	2017
		\$	\$
Deferred Tax Ass	set halance	61,36	33,401
Deferred Tax Lia		(51,00	(52,118)
Balance at 30 Ju	une 2018	10,36	(18,717)
Deferred tax as	sets	/o.o=	(0.070)
Property, plant a	nd equipment	(6,67	9) (6,679)
Provisions - Prov debts	rision for doubtful	1,96	0 -
Prepayments		(44,32	
Accruals		30,78	10.00
Employee provisi	ion	28,61	
Deferred tax		10,36	0 (18,717)
		/	

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

20. Dividends		
	2018	2017
	\$	\$
The following dividends were declared and paid:		
Interim franked ordinary dividend of \$600		
(2017: Nil) per share to be paid on 30 November 2017	60,000	S#1
Final franked ordinary dividend of \$1,770 (2016: 2,960) per share	177,000	296,000
Total	237,000	296,000

Franked dividends declared or paid during the year were franked at the tax rate of 27.5%.

21. Auditors' Remuneration

ZI. Addition Remaindration	2018 \$	2017 \$
Remuneration of the auditor (Moore Stephens), for: - External Audit	17,50	0 15,000
Total	17,50	0 15,000

22. Fair Value Measurement

The Company measures the following assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis:

- Financial assets
- Financial liabilities

23. Contingencies

As stated in review of operations above, AF Legal entered into a non-binding Heads of Agreement with an ASX listed company which is currently suspended from trading, to implement a proposal under which the listed company would acquire 100% of the share capital of AF Legal for a mixture of cash and share consideration.

If AF Legal withdraws from the process in an unprescribed circumstance, or does not satisfy certain conditions of its binding condition precedents, AF Legal may be liable for a break fee not exceeding \$75,000 to the extent that the ASX listed company has incurred costs to that level pursuing the opportunity. AF Legal would be entitled to receive a break fee not exceeding \$75,000 in the reverse situation, to the extent that AF Legal incurred costs in pursuing the opportunity and the ASX listed company discontinued negotiations in an unprescribed circumstance or does not satisfy a binding condition precedent.

The parties are presently undertaking mutual due diligence as a precursor to a binding Share Purchase Deed.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

24. Related Parties

(a) The Company's main related parties are as follows:

The ultimate parent entity, which exercises control over the Company, is Oscar Churchill Pty Ltd which owns 100% of AF Legal Pty Ltd.

Key management personnel

Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the entity, is considered key management personnel.

(b) Transactions with related parties

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated.

The following transactions occurred with related parties:

	2018	2017
Edward Finn - Director Salary Superannuation	69,231 6,577	39,923 3,793
Alan Alpass- Director Salary	-	10,652
Superannuation	-	1,012 868
Consulting Rent contribution	₩ •1	2,984

(c) Loans to/from related parties

Unsecured loans are made to the shareholder on an arm's length basis. Repayment terms are set for each loan, which is 7 years. Interest payable at the benchmark interest rate and payable by the end of each income year.

	Opening balance	Closing balance	Interest paid/payable
Loans to shareholders 2018 2017	697,698 475,002	1,054,949 751,516	2 7 92

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

25. Cash Flow Information

(a) Reconciliation of result for the year to cashflows from operating activities

Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

	2018		2017
	\$		\$
Net profit/(loss)		731,969	(101,580)
Cash flows excluded from profit attributable to operating activities			
Non-cash flows in profit:			
- depreciation		12,287	10,047
- interest capitalised into Director loan		(34,980)	(16,885)
Changes in assets and liabilities:			
- (increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables	((520,345)	348,012
- (increase)/decrease in other assets		(13,798)	(23,253)
- increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables		25,153	79,819
- increase/(decrease) in income taxes payable		151,438	(146,441)
- increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability		(29,077)	33,016
- increase/(decrease) in provisions		23,453	3,519

(b) Borrowing facilities

- increase/(decrease) in provisions - increase/(decrease) in employee

Cashflows from operations

benefits

The following facilities were available at the end of the reporting period:

The following facilities were available at the one of the reporting period.	2018 \$	2017 \$
Total facilities Westpac Business One loan	1,200,00	1,200,000
Bank bill Business Loan services	400,00	00 -
Banker' Undertaking -Individual Iimit 1	27,39	90 33,500
Banker' Undertaking -Individual limit 2	57,08	86 -
	1,684,47	76 1,233,500

18,327

204,581

36,894

382,994

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

25. Cash Flow Information

(b) Borrowing facilities	2018 \$	2017 \$
Used at reporting date	4 050 070	1 001 207
Westpac Business One loan	1,050,270	1,081,297
Bank bill Business Loan services	150,151	u
Banker' Undertaking -Individual limit 1	27,390	33,500
Banker' Undertaking -Individual limit 2	57,086	-
	1,284,897	1,114,797
Unused at reporting date		
Westpac Business One loan	149,730	118,703
Bank bill Business Loan services	249,849	-
	399,579	118,703

26. Events Occurring After the Reporting Date

The financial report was authorised for issue on 30 November 2018 by the board of directors.

Other than disclosed elsewhere in this report, (particulary note 23) no matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in future financial years.

27. Statutory Information

The registered office and principal place of business of the company is:

AF Legal Pty Ltd Mezzanine level, 411 Collins Street Melbourne Victoria 3000

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Directors' Declaration

The directors of the Company declare that:

- the financial statements and notes for the year ended 30 June 2018 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and:
 - comply with Accounting Standards, which, as stated in basis of preparation Note 1. to the financial statements, constitutes explicit and unreserved compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS); and
 - give a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the Company;
- In the directors' opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Director	A	₩			 	
Edward Finr						
			Necessario			
Dated this	30th	day of	November	2018		

MOORE STEPHENS

Moore Stephens Audit (Vic)

Level 18, 530 Collins Street Melbourne Victoria 3000 +61 (0)3 9608 0100

Level 1, 219 Ryrie Street Geelong Victoria 3220 +61 (0)3 5215 6800

victoria@moorestephens.com.au

www.moorestephens.com.au

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF AF LEGAL PTY LTD

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial report of AF Legal Pty Ltd (the Company), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes and the directors' declaration of the Company

In our opinion:

- a. the financial report of AF Legal Pty Ltd is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
 - i. giving a true and fair view of the Company's financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and
 - ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the *Corporations Regulations 2001*;

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report* section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor independence requirements with Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 *Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants* (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Company's annual report of the year ended 30 June 2018, but does not include the financial report and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

MOORE STEPHENS

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001, and for such internal control as the directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located on the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors responsibilities/ar4.pdf. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

MOONE STEPHENS

MOORE STEPHENS AUDIT (VIC)

ABN 16 847 721 257

RYAN LEEMON

Partner

Audit & Assurance Services

Melbourne, Victoria

30 November 2018

AF Legal Pty Ltd ABN: 44 604 485 154

Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Contents

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

	Page
Financial Statements	
Directors' Report	1
Auditor's Independence Declaration	4
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income	5
Statement of Financial Position	6
Statement of Changes in Equity	7
Statement of Cash Flows	8
Notes to the Financial Statements	9
Directors' Declaration	30
Independent Audit Report	31

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Directors' Report

30 June 2017

The directors present this report on AF Legal Pty Ltd for the financial year ended 30 June 2017.

1. General information

Information on directors

The names of each person who has been a director during the year and to the date of this report are:

Edward Finn

Managing Director (February 2015-Current)

Qualifications

Bachelor of Laws and Bachelor of Arts (Media & Communications)

from the University of Melbourne.

Admitted to practise as a Solicitor in 2012 by the Victorian Legal

Services Board & Commissioner.

Currently holds a Principal Practising Certificate issued by the

Victorian Legal Services Board & Commissioner.

Special Resposibilities

As Managing Director of AF Legal Pty Ltd, He is responsible for the

management, operation and strategic direction of the company.

Alan Alpass

Director (February 2015 - October 2016)

Qualifications

Bachelor of Laws and Bachelor of Jurisprudence (Monash

University).

Director and Principal Practitioner of AF Legal.

Special Responsibilities

Senior legal consultant to AF Legal presiding over arrange of matters in will and estate disputes and family law, drawing upon more than 40

years of legal experience.

Alan Alpass was a Director from the start of the financial year until October 2016.

Edward Finn (Managing Director) has been the company secretary since 27 February 2015.

Principal activities

AF Legal (also known as Australian Family Lawyers) is an Australian law firm that practises family and relationship law. The firm provides advice to clients in respect of divorce, separation, property and children's matters together with ancillary services such as estate planning and litigation.

No significant changes in the nature of the Company's activity occurred during the financial year.

2. Operating results and review of operations for the year

Operating results

The loss of the Company after providing for income tax amounted to \$ 101,580 (2016: \$ 215,670 Profit).

Dividends paid or recommended

Dividends paid or declared during or since the end of the financial year are as follows:

A fully franked dividend of \$ 296,000 was declared on 01 July 2016 for payment for the year ended 30 June 2017.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Directors' Report

30 June 2017

2. Operating results and review of operations for the year

Review of operations

After a promising 2015 and 2016 year (first full year of operations) results, operating performance declined during 2017 financial year.

This was attributable to a number of factors including:

- The replacement of Fee-Earners with skills that did not align with the AF Legal business model;
- The establishment of the Sydney office; and
- The time and expense associated with exploring a number of strategic acquisition opportunities.

The establishment of the Sydney office increased the number of Fee Earners from 8 to 11 in the last quarter. A corresponding improvement in financial performance occurred in that quarter, which is testimony to the AF Legal business model. The model provides 'files' to solicitors as a result of AF Legal's digital marketing system rather than relying entirely upon personal referral networks.

The outlook for 2018 is therefore strong with EBITDA budgeted to significantly exceed \$1m.

3. Other items

Significant changes in state of affairs

There have been no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company during the year.

Events after the reporting date

In August 2018, AF Legal entered into a non-binding Heads of Agreement with an ASX listed company, which is currently suspended from trading, to implement a proposal under which the listed company would acquire 100% of the share capital of AF Legal for a mixture of cash and share consideration. The proposal would lead to the ASX listed company changing its principal undertaking, and to commence re-trading as AF Legal, upon its reinstatement to the official list of the ASX.

Subject to regulatory (ASIC and ASX) approvals this process would prospectively occur in the first 6 months of the 2019 calendar year.

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or could significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Company in future financial years.

Future developments and results

Likely developments in the operations of the Company and the expected results of those operations in future financial years have not been included in this report as the inclusion of such information is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Company.

Environmental issues

The Company's operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulations under a law of the Commonwealth or of a state or territory of Australia.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Directors' Report 30 June 2017

50 Gane 2017

Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditors

No indemnities have been given or insurance premiums paid, during or since the end of the financial year, for any person who is or has been an officer or auditor of AF Legal Pty Ltd.

Auditor's independence declaration

The lead auditor's independence declaration in accordance with section 307C of the *Corporations Act 2001*, for the year ended 30 June 2017 has been received and can be found on page 4 of the financial report.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors:

Divastavi		KM				
Director:					 	
Edward Finn						
	30th		November	÷		
Dated this		day of	November	2018		

MOORE STEPHENS

Moore Stephens Audit (Vic)

Level 18, 530 Collins Street Melbourne Victoria 3000 +61 (0)3 9608 0100

Level 1, 219 Ryrie Street Geelong Victoria 3220 +61 (0)3 5215 6800

victoria@moorestephens.com.au

www.moorestephens.com.au

AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER S 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 TO THE DIRECTOR OF AF LEGAL PTY LTD

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2017, there have been:

- i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the *Corporations Act 2001* in relation to the audit; and
- ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

MOONE STEPHENS

MOORE STEPHENS AUDIT (VIC) ABN 16 847 721 257

RYAN LEEMON

Partner

Audit & Assurance Services

Melbourne, Victoria

30 November 2018

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

		20	17	2016	ì
	Note	\$		\$	
Revenue	4		2,070,887		2,070,944
Personnel costs	5	_	(1,348,062)		(782,182)
Gross profit			722,825		1,288,762
Marketing expenses			(205,901))	(160,590)
Administrative expenses			(264,142)		(149,113)
Other expenses			(216,310)		(228,062)
Depreciation			(10,047))	(4,125)
Bad/doubtful debts			(72,844))	(407,714)
Interest Expenses			(64,102)		(24,970)
Profit before income tax			(110,521)		314,188
Income tax benefit/(expense)	6		8,941		(98,518)
Profit/(loss) for the year		_	(101,580)		215,670
Total comprehensive income/(loss)for the year			(101,580)		215,670

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Statement of Financial Position

As At 30 June 2017

	Note	2017 \$	2016 \$
ACCETO		·	WES
ASSETS CURRENT ASSETS			
Cash on hand	7	5,147	234
Trade and other receivables	8	630,845	978,857
Other assets	11	37,489	13,736
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS		673,481	992,827
NON-CURRENT ASSETS			
Loan to Directors	9	751,516	475,002
Property, plant and equipment	10	24,301	
Deferred tax liabilities/(assets)	19	(18,717) 14,299
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS		757,100	513,513
TOTAL ASSETS		1,430,581	1,506,340
LIABILITIES CURRENT LIABILITIES Trade and other payables Borrowings Current tax receivable/(liabilities) Short-term provisions	12 13 19 14	406,336 1,154,725 27,268 40,305	788,128 (119,173)
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES		1,574,098	1,254,841
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES Long-term provisions TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES	14	3,416	852 852
TOTAL LIABILITIES		1,577,514	1,255,693
NET ASSETS		(146,933	250,647
EQUITY Issued capital Retained earnings	15 16	100 (147,033 (146,933	250,547 250,647
TOTAL EQUITY		(146,933	250,647

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Statement of Changes in Equity

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

2017

2017				
		Ordinary Shares	Retained Earnings	Total
	Note	\$	\$	\$
Balance at 1 July 2016		100	250,547	250,647
Profit or loss for the year		*	(101,580)	(101,580)
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners				
Dividends paid or provided for	20	*	(296,000)	(296,000)
Balance at 30 June 2017		100	(147,033)	(146,933)
2016				
		Ordinary Shares	Retained Earnings	Total
	Note	\$	\$	\$
Balance at 1 July 2015		100	114,877	114,977
Profit or loss for the year		-	215,670	215,670
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners				
Dividends paid or provided for	20	-	(80,000)	(80,000)
Balance at 30 June 2016		100	250,547	250,647

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

	Note	2017 \$	2016 \$
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: Receipts from customers Payments to suppliers and employees Interest paid Income taxes paid Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities	25	2,634,576 (2,253,237 (64,102 (113,156) (1,614,174)) (24,970)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: Payments for property, plant & equipment Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities		(10,136	Activities to a section of the section of
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: Related party loan drawings/advances External loan funding Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities		(555,629 15,698 (539,931	53,625
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year	7	(345,986 (730,664 (1,076,650) (39,348)

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

The financial report covers AF Legal Pty Ltd as an individual entity. AF Legal Pty Ltd is a for-profit proprietary Company, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.

1 Basis of Preparation

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards and the *Corporations Act 2001*.

Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless otherwise stated.

The functional and presentation currency of AF Legal Pty Ltd is Australian dollars..The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded off to the nearest dollar unless stated otherwise.

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Income Tax

The tax expense recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is comprised of current income tax expense plus deferred tax expense (being the movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities and unused tax losses during the year).

Current tax is the amount of income taxes payable (recoverable) in respect of the taxable profit (loss) for the year and is measured as the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the taxation authorities, using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Current tax liabilities (assets) are measured as the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the relevant taxation authority.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and losses can be utilised.

Current and deferred tax is recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period except where the tax arises from a transaction which is recognised in other comprehensive income or equity, in which case the tax is recognised in other comprehensive income or equity respectively.

(b) Leases

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease term.

(c) Revenue and other income

Revenue comprises Legal fees and disbursement from payments on behalf of the client.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company and specific criteria relating to the type of revenue as noted below, has been satisfied.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(c) Revenue and other income

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is presented net of returns, discounts and rebates.

Rendering of services

Revenue in relation to rendering of services is time (hourly based) and recognised depending on whether the outcome of the services can be estimated reliably. Professional fees represent amounts chargeable to clients for professional services provided during the year inclusive of recoverable expenses. Such income is only recognised upon delivery of services.

Services provided to clients, which at balance date have not been billed, are recognised as income net of accrued non recoverable fees.

Recognition of unbilled services as revenue is based on an assessment of fair value of the service provided as a proportion and total engagement value. Where the right to receive payment is contingent on factors external to the companies' control. Revenue is only recognised (above any engagement fee) when the contingent event occurs.

(d) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value, and are subsequently reduced for estimated irrecoverable amounts. A provision for impairment and trade receivable (including work in progress) is established when there is objective evidence that the company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original term of the engagement.

Collectability is reviewed an ongoing basis. Debts known to be uncollectable are written off by reducing the carrying amounts directly. A provision raised where there is objective evidence of non-collectability.

(e) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

(f) Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).

Receivables and payable are stated inclusive of GST.

Cash flows in the statement of cash flows are included on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(g) Property, plant and equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment.

Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the assets useful life to the Company, commencing when the asset is ready for use.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable asset are shown below:

Fixed asset class	Depreciation rate
Office Equipment	20%
Computer Equipment	33.33%

At the end of each annual reporting period, the depreciation method, useful life and residual value of each asset is reviewed. Any revisions are accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate.

(h) Financial instruments

Financial instruments are recognised initially using trade date accounting, i.e. on the date that the Company becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

On initial recognition, all financial instruments are measured at fair value plus transaction costs (except for instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss where transaction costs are expensed as incurred).

Financial Assets

Financial assets are divided into the following categories which are described in detail below:

loans and receivables;

Financial assets are assigned to the different categories on initial recognition, depending on the characteristics of the instrument and its purpose. A financial instrument's category is relevant to the way it is measured and whether any resulting income and expenses are recognised in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the 'finance income' or 'finance costs' line item respectively.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They arise principally through the provision of goods and services to customers but also incorporate other types of contractual monetary assets.

After initial recognition these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. Any change in their value is recognised in profit or loss.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(h) Financial instruments

The Company's trade and other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments.

In some circumstances, the Company renegotiates repayment terms with customers which may lead to changes in the timing of the payments, the Company does not necessarily consider the balance to be impaired, however assessment is made on a case-by-case basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities 'at fair value through profit or loss' or other financial liabilities depending on the purpose for which the liability was acquired.

The Company's financial liabilities include borrowings, trade and other payables (including finance lease liabilities), which are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Impairment of financial assets

At the end of the reporting period the Company assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

Financial assets at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial assets original effective interest rate.

The amount of the impairment is the difference between the net carrying amount and the present value of the future expected cash flows associated with the impaired receivable.

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against other expenses in profit or loss.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash on hand, demand deposits and shortterm investments which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Maturity is usually within 3 months.

For cash flow disclosure, overdrafts are considered cash..

(i) Employee benefits

Provision is made for the Company's liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to the end of the reporting period. Employee benefits that are expected to be wholly settled within one year have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.

Employee benefits expected to be settled more than one year after the end of the reporting period have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits. In determining the liability, consideration is given to employee wage increases and the probability that the employee may satisfy vesting requirements. Cashflows are discounted using market yields on high quality corporate bond rates incorporating bonds rated AAA or AA by credit agencies, with terms to maturity that match

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(j) Employee benefits

Employee benefits the expected timing of cashflows. Changes in the measurement of the liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Defined contribution schemes

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods in which services are provided by employees.

(k) Comparative Amounts

Transaction and balances

Comparatives are consistent with prior years, unless otherwise stated.

(I) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations

Accounting Standards issued by the AASB that are not yet mandatorily applicable to the Group, together with an assessment of the potential impact of such pronouncements on the Group when adopted in future periods, are discussed below:

AASB 9 Financial Instrument

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard replaces all previous versions of AASB 9 and completes the project to replace IAS 39 'Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement'. AASB 9 introduces new classification and measurement models for financial assets. A financial asset shall be measured at amortised cost, if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, which arise on specified dates and solely principal and interest. All other financial instrument assets are to be classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss unless the entity makes an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on equity instruments (that are not held-for-trading) in other comprehensive income ('OCI'). For financial liabilities, the standard requires the portion of the change in fair value that relates to the entity's own credit risk to be presented in OCI (unless it would create an accounting mismatch). New simpler hedge accounting requirements are intended to more closely align the accounting treatment with the risk management activities of the entity. New impairment requirements will use an 'expected credit loss' ('ECL') model to recognise an allowance. Impairment will be measured under a 12-month ECL method unless the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition in which case the lifetime ECL method is adopted. The standard introduces additional new disclosures. The Entity will adopt this standard from 1 July 2018 and is still assessing the impact of its adoption on the financial statements.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customer

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard provides a single standard for revenue recognition. The core principle of the standard is that an entity will recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The standard will require: contracts (either written, verbal or implied) to be identified, together with the separate performance obligations within the contract; determine the transaction price, adjusted for the time value of money excluding credit risk; allocation of the transaction price to the separate performance obligations on a basis of relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service, or estimation approach if no distinct observable prices exist; and recognition of revenue when each performance obligation is satisfied. Credit risk will be presented separately as an expense rather than adjusted to revenue. For goods, the performance obligation would be satisfied when the customer obtains control of the goods. For services, the performance obligation is satisfied when the service has been provided, typically for promises to transfer services to

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(I) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations

customers. For performance obligations satisfied over time, an entity would select an appropriate measure of progress to determine how much revenue should be recognised as the performance obligation is satisfied. Contracts with customers will be presented in an entity's statement of financial position as a contract liability, a contract asset, or a receivable, depending on the relationship between the entity's performance and the customer's payment. Sufficient quantitative and qualitative disclosure is required to enable users to understand the contracts with customers; the significant judgements made in applying the guidance to those contracts; and any assets recognised from the costs to obtain or fulfil a contract with a customer. The Entity will adopt this standard from 1 July 2018 and is still assessing the impact of its adoption on the financial statements.

AASB 16 Leases

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The standard replaces AASB 117 'Leases' and for lessees will eliminate the classifications of operating leases and finance leases. Subject to exceptions, a 'right-of-use' asset will be capitalised in the statement of financial position, measured at the present value of the unavoidable future lease payments to be made over the lease term. The exceptions relate to short-term leases of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets (such as personal computers and small office furniture) where an accounting policy choice exists whereby either a 'right-ofuse asset is recognised or lease payments are expensed to profit or loss as incurred. A liability corresponding to the capitalised lease will also be recognised, adjusted for lease prepayments, lease incentives received, initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of any future restoration, removal or dismantling costs. Straight-line operating lease expense recognition will be replaced with a depreciation charge for the leased asset (included in operating costs) and an interest expense on the recognised lease liability (included in finance costs). In the earlier periods of the lease, the expenses associated with the lease under AASB 16 will be higher when compared to lease expenses under AASB 117. However EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation) results will be improved as the operating expense is replaced by interest expense and depreciation in profit or loss under AASB 16. For classification within the statement of cash flows, the lease payments will be separated into both a principal (financing activities) and interest (either operating or financing activities) component. For lessor accounting, the standard does not substantially change how a lessor accounts for leases. The Entity will adopt this standard from 1 July 2019 but the impact of its adoption is yet to be assessed by the group.

(m) Going concern

The statement of financial position shows a deficiency in working capital (current assets less current liabilities) of \$873,617 (2016: \$262,014) and net assets deficiency of \$146,933.

The deficiency derives predominantly from the loan receivable from Directors of \$751,516 (2016: \$475,002) being classified as non-current as it is on a 7 year Division 7A repayments terms, (refer to note 9).

Further, dividends paid during the year (refer note 20) were in excess of net assets available at year end.

Despite the above circumstances the Director deems the going concern basis of financial statement preparation to be appropriate, noting all obligations are expected to be settled as and when they fall due and external borrowing obligations remain within terms. Further, as detailed at notes 9 and 23, should the contingent share sale take place, the Director's loan will be recovered in full from the current Director despite the non-current classification of the loan at 30 June 2018 (a condition precedent), bridging the working capital deficiency disclosed.

3 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The director makes estimates and judgements during the preparation of these financial statements regarding assumptions about current and future events affecting transactions and balances.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

3 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

These estimates and judgements are based on the best information available at the time of preparing the financial statements, however as additional information is known then the actual results may differ from the estimates.

The significant estimates and judgements made have been described below.

Key estimates - fair value of financial instruments

The Company has certain financial assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value. Where fair value has not able to be determined based on quoted price, a valuation model has been used. The inputs to these models are observable, where possible, however these techniques involve significant estimates and therefore fair value of the instruments could be affected by changes in these assumptions and inputs.

Key estimates - revenue recognition - WIP

The Company undertakes engagements which span a number of reporting periods. Recognition of revenue in relation to these contracts involves a determination of the timing for revenue earned. The assumptions are based on the information available to management, such as cost per hour and amount of hours incur in each engagement at the reporting date, however future changes or additional information may mean the expected revenue recognition pattern has to be amended and/or provided for if recoverability is uncertain (refer note 2c).

Key estimates - receivables

The receivables at reporting date have been reviewed to determine whether there is any objective evidence that any of the receivables are impaired. An impairment provision is included for any receivable where the entire balance is not considered collectible. The impairment provision is based on the best information at the reporting date.

Key judgments - taxes

Deferred tax assets

Determining income tax provisions involves judgment on the tax treatment of certain transactions. Deferred tax is recognised on tax losses not yet used and on temporary differences where it is probable that there will be taxable revenue against which these can be offset. Management has made judgments as to the probability of future taxable revenues being generated against which tax losses will be available for offset based on budgets, current and future expected economic conditions.

4 Revenue and Other Income

Revenue	from	continuing	operations
---------	------	------------	------------

	\$	\$
Sales revenue - Professional fees	2,054,002	2,066,832
Finance income - Interest received	16,885	4,112
Total Revenue	2,070,887	2,070,944

2016

2017

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

_	Personnel	

	Personnel costs include the following specific expenses: Wages and Salaries Other expenses: Employee benefit expenses	2017 \$ 874,354 190,006	2016 \$ 457,832 71,951
	Professional fees	202,174 81,528	209,333 43,066
	Superannuation contributions Total personnel costs	1,348,062	782,182
6	Income Tax Expense		
	(a) The major components of tax expense (income) comprise: Current tax Deferred tax Correction of cumulative error	(58,402) 32,514 (8,170)	119,173 (29,081) 8,426
	Under/(over) provision in respect of prior years	25,117	
	Total income tax expense	(8,941)	98,518
	(b) Reconciliation of income tax to accounting profit: Prima facie tax payable on profit from ordinary activities before income tax at 27.5% (2016: 28.5%) Add:	(30,393)	89,544
	Tax effect of: - non-deductible expenses	4,505	1,287
		(25,888)	90,831
	Less:		
	Tax effect of: - Prior year overprovision and error correction - Change in tax rate	16,947 -	8,426 (739)
	Income tax expense	(8,941)	98,518
	Weighted average effective tax rate	(8)%	31 %

The decrease in the weighted average effective tax rate for 2017 is a result of the availability of overprovisions.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

7	Cash on hand	2017	2016
		\$	\$
	Cash on hand	5,147	234
		5,147	234
	Reconciliation of cash		
	Cash and Cash equivalents reported in the statement of cash flows are reconcil statement of financial position as follows:	ed to the equivalen	t items in the
	Note		
	Cash on hand	5,147	234
	Bank overdrafts 13	(1,081,797)	(730,898)
	Balance as per statement of cash flows	(1,076,650)	(730,664)
8	Trade and Other Receivables		
	CURRENT	501,982	995,487
	Trade receivables Provision for impairment (a)	501,962	(151,374)
	A CONTRACT TO THE CONTRACT OF	114,381	121,326
	Other receivables (Work in progress) Other receivables (Unbilled Disbursements)	14,482	13,418
	Total current trade and other receivables	630,845	978,857
(a)	Impairment of receivables		
	Reconciliation of changes in the provision for impairment of receivables is as fo Balance at beginning of the year	llows: 151,374	21,672
	Additional impairment loss	72,844	407,714
	recognised Realisation of impairment	(224,218)	(278,012)
	Balance at end of the year		151,374

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

8 Trade and Other Receivables

(b) Credit risk

The entity has no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to any single counterparty other than those receivables specifically mentioned above. The main source of credit risk to the entity is considered to be related to class of assets described as "trade and other receivables".

The following table details the Entity's trade receivables exposed to credit risk with ageing analysis and impairment provided for thereon.

Amounts are considered as "past due" when the debt has not been settled within the term and conditions agreed between the Entity and the clients.

Receivables that are past due are assessed for impairment by ascertaining solvency of the debtor and are provided for where there are specific circumstances indicating that the debt may not be fully repaid to the Entity. The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms (as detailed in the table below are considers to be high credit quality.

The ageing analysis of receivables is as follows:

ASSISTANCE OF THE STATE OF THE	2017	2016
	\$	\$
0-30 days	325,191	205,497
31-60 days	115,156	60,531
61-90 days	35,487	95,227
91+ days (not past due or not impaired)	155,011	617,602
	630,845	978,857
9 Loans and Advances - Non-current		
Loans to Director	751,516	475,002
	751,516	475,002

(a) Loan to Directors are on Division 7A terms with a minimum interest term applied in accordance with legislation.

As detailed at note 2(m) despite the Director loan being classified as non-current at 30 June 2018, a requirement of the non-binding Heads of Agreement referred to is that all director's loans are required to be fully paid prior to completion. This means that the full balance may be recovered within 12 months should the term detailed at note 23 be met.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

10	Property, plant and equipment		
10	Troporty, plant and equipment	2017	2016
		\$	\$
	PLANT AND EQUIPMENT		
	Fixtures and Fittings	17,440	15,700
	At cost	Section 2	
	Accumulated depreciation	(4,201)	(1,061)
	Total furniture, fixtures and fittings	13,239	14,639
	Computer equipment		40.000
	At cost	21,686	13,302
	Accumulated depreciation	(10,624)	(3,729)
	Total computer equipment	11,062	9,573
	Total property, plant and equipment	24,301	24,212

(a) Movements in carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the end of the current financial year:

	Fixtures and Fittings	Computer Equipment \$	Total \$
Year ended 30 June 2017 Balance at the beginning of year Additions Depreciation expense	14,639 1,907 (3,307)	9,573 8,229 (6,740)	24,212 10,136 (10,047)
Balance at the end of the year	13,239	11,062	24,301
	Fixtures and Fittings \$	Computer Equipment \$	Total
Year ended 30 June 2016			
Balance at the beginning of year	14 1	664	664
Additions	15,700	11,973	27,673
Depreciation expense	(1,061)	(3,064)	(4,125)
Balance at the end of the year	14,639	9,573	24,212
CONTRACTOR			

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

11 Other Assets	2017 \$	2016 \$
CURRENT Prepayments Other assets	36,369 1,120	12,056 1,680
	37,489	13,736
12 Trade and Other Payables Current		
Trade payables	51,432	152,554
Other payables	28,831	29,700
GST payable	252,474	99,184
Accrued expenses	73,599	45,079
and the second s	406,336	326,517

Trade and other payables are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are normally settled within 30 days. The carrying value of trade and other payables is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value due to the short-term nature of the balances.

13 Borrowings

 CURRENT

 Secured liabilities:

 Bank overdraft
 1,081,797
 730,898

 Credit card
 40,565
 45,940

 Other financial liabilities
 32,363
 11,290

 Total current borrowings
 1,154,725
 788,128

Facilities held with Westpac include:

- Overdraft facility (1,200,000)
- Banker' undertaking (33,500)
- Credit card facility (50,000)

Limit of finance agreement dated 19 April 2017 is \$1,233,500 includes the overdraft facility and the Banker' undertaking limited guarantee and indemnity by Edward Finn. Total unused portions are disclosure in note 25(b).

(a) Defaults and breaches

During the current and prior year, there were no defaults or breaches on any any condition contained in binding facilities.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

14 Provisions	201 \$	7 2016 \$	i
CURRENT Annual leave Provision Straight Line Rental	17	36,786 3,519	21,023
· ·		40,305	21,023
NON-CURRENT Long service leave	-	3,416	852
Section Consideration of the		3,416	852
15 Issued Capital (2016: 100) Ordinary shares		100	100
Total	_	100	100

(a) Ordinary shares

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company.

(b) Capital Management

The key objectives of the Company when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern and maintain optimal benefits to stakeholders. The Company defines capital as its equity and net debt.

The company's debt and capital includes ordinary shares capital and financial liabilities, supported by financial assets.

Management effectively manages the Company's capital by assessing the financial risk and adjusting its capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses include the managements of debt levels, distributions to shareholders and share issues.

There has been no change to capital risk management policies during the year. Gearing ratios are not generally applicable to services companies who customarily repatriate all retained earnings to shareholders to the extent that they are not required for immediate working capital. However the company's strategy is to ensure that its debt is no more than twice its future maintainable EBITDA, generally defined as budgeted EBITDA for the next financial year. The Debt to EBITDA ratio was less than 1 time at June 17 and June 18, based upon budgets for the succeeding financial year.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

16 Retained Earnings	2017	2016	3
	\$	\$	
Retained earnings at the beginning of the financial year	250,54	7	114,877
Net loss/(profit)	(101,58	(0)	215,670
Distribution to shareholders	(296,00	0)	(80,000)
Retained earnings at end of the financial year	(147,03	3)	250,547

17 Capital and Leasing Commitments

The Company has the following commitments relating to operating leases:

(a)	Finance Leases	2017 \$	201 \$	6
	Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases: - not later than one year - between one year and five years	126,3 520,1		73,800 86,100
	• 0000	646,5	12	159,900

Operating leases are in place for Melbourne and Sydney offices. Lease payments are increased on an annual basis to reflect market rentals.

(b) Straight lining of leases

Lease agreement for Melbourne office signed on 25 July 2017 states a rent abatement period commencing on 18 April 2017 and expiring on 17 April 2020 of \$114,846.

Post abatement rental payments	19,721 -	
Straight lining	(23,240)	
	(3,519)	
	(3,519)	

18 Financial Risk Management

The Company is exposed to a variety of financial risks through its use of financial instruments.

The Company's overall risk management plan seeks to minimise potential adverse effects due to the unpredictability of financial markets.

The most significant financial risks to which the Company is exposed to are described below:

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

18 Financial Risk Management

Specific risks

- Liquidity risk
- Credit risk
- Market risk currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk

Financial instruments used

The principal categories of financial instrument used by the Company are:

- Trade receivables
- Cash at bank
- Bank overdraft
- Trade and other payables

• Trade and other payables	2017 \$	2016 \$
	1,382,361	1,453,859
Loans and receivables		\$1.000 \$200 \$200 \$200 \$200 \$200 \$200 \$200
Financial assets at fair value	5,147	234
Financial liabilities at fair value	(1,154,725)	(788,128)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost	(434,705)	(494,428)
	(201,922)	171,537

Objectives, policies and processes

The Director has an overall responsibility for the establishment of AF Legal Pty Ltd's financial risk management framework. This includes the development of policies covering specific areas such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and the use of derivatives.

Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and AF Legal Pty Ltd's activities.

The day-to-day risk management is carried out by AF Legal Pty Ltd's finance function under policies and objectives which have been approved by the Director. Objectives and policies include monitoring the levels of exposure to credit and liquidity risks.

The Director receives monthly reports which provide details of the effectiveness of the processes and policies in place.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

18 Financial Risk Management

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the Company's management of working capital and the finance charges and principal repayments on its debt instruments. It is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Company manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for long-term financial liabilities as well as preparing cash flow analyses in relation to its operating, investing and financing activities. At the reporting date, these reports indicate that the Company expected to have sufficient liquid resources to meet its obligations under all reasonably expected circumstances and will not need to draw down any of the financing facilities.

Financial guarantee liabilities are treated as payable on demand since AF Legal Pty Ltd has no control over the timing of any potential settlement of the liabilities. The timing of cash flows presented in the table to settle financial liabilities reflects the earliest contractual settlement dates and does not reflect management's expectations that banking facilities will be rolled forward.

The amounts disclosed in the table are the undiscounted contracted cash flows and therefore the balances in the table may not equal the balances in the statement of financial position due to the effect of discounting.

The table below reflects maturity analysis for financial assets.

	Effective Ra		Within 1 Year	r (Over 1 Year		Tota	ıl
	2017	2016	2017	2016	2017	2016	2017	2016
	%	%	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$
Financial assets - cash flows realisable Cash and cash equivalents	-	Æ1	5,147	234	E.	-	5,147	234
Trade, term and loans receivables		-	630,845	978,857	2 0		630,845	978,857
Loans to Director	-	-	5. 7 2	-	751,516	475,002	751,516	475,002
Financial liabilities								
Financial liabilities at fair value	4.55	8.52	(1,154,725)	(788,128)	-	ů,	(1,154,725)	
Trade payables	-	-	(406,336)	(326,517)	•	=	(406,336)	(326,517)
Provision for Straight line rental		-	(3,519)	•		2	(3,519)	-
Tax liabilities	•	-	(24,850)	(167,911)	-	-	(24,850)	(167,911)
Total anticipated outflows			(953,438)	(303,465)	751,516	475,002	(201,922)	171,537

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Company.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

18 Financial Risk Management

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposure to clients in the form of outstanding receivables.

The Company has adopted a policy of dealing with creditworthy clients as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. This includes initial monitoring systems to determine the client's capacity to pay. Additionally in accordance with trust guidelines relating to the administration of legal practices, customers where applicable are required to deposit sums into a trust account in advance of work being performed on a matter.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of clients. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable.

The Director receives monthly reports summarising the turnover, trade receivables balance and ageing profile of each of all matters.

Management considers that all the financial assets that are not impaired for each of the reporting dates under review are of good credit quality.

19 Tax assets and liabilities

(a)	Current Tax Liability	2017		2016
		\$		\$
	Balance at the start of the year	(119,1	73)	(34,451)
	Income Tax	58,40	02	(119,173)
	Tax payments	113,1	56	34,451
	Over provision	(25,1	17)	-
	Current tax liabilities	27,2	68	(119,173)
(b)	Deferred Tax Assets			
	Deferred Tax Asset balance	33	3,401	63,037
	Deferred Tax Liability balance	(52	2,118)	(48,738)
	Balance at 30 June 2017	(18	3,717)	14,299
	Deferred tax assets Accounting Depreciation	((6,679)	(6,900)
	Provisions - Provision for doubtful debts	-		43,141
	Prepayments	(4:	5,440)	(41,838)
	Accruals	2	1,379	13,662
	Employee provision	1:	2,023	6,234
	Balance at 30 June 2017	(1	8,717)	14,299

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

20	Dividends		
		2017	2016
		\$	\$
	The following dividends were declared and paid:		
	Interim franked ordinary dividend of (2016: \$100) per share to be paid on 31 January 2016	~	10,000
	Final franked ordinary dividend of 2,960 (2016: 700) cents per share	296,000	70,000
	Total	296,000	80,000

Franked dividends declared or paid during the year were franked at the tax rate of 28.5%.

21	21 Auditors' Remuneration	2017	2016
		\$	\$
	Remuneration of the auditor (Moore Stephens), for:		
	- auditing or reviewing the financial	15 000	15 000

 statements
 15,000
 15,000

 Total
 15,000
 15,000

22 Fair Value Measurement

The Company measures the following assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis:

- Financial assets
- Financial liabilities

23 Contingencies

As stated in review of operations above, AF Legal entered into a non-binding Heads of Agreement with an ASX listed company which is currently suspended from trading, to implement a proposal under which the listed company would acquire 100% of the share capital of AF Legal for a mixture of cash and share consideration.

If AF Legal withdraws from the process in an unprescribed circumstance, or does not satisfy certain conditions of its binding condition precedents, AF Legal may be liable for a break fee not exceeding \$75,000 to the extent that the ASX listed company has incurred costs to that level pursuing the opportunity. AF Legal would be entitled to receive a break fee not exceeding \$75,000 in the reverse situation, to the extent that AF Legal incurred costs in pursuing the opportunity and the ASX listed company discontinued negotiations in an unprescribed circumstance or does not satisfy a binding condition precedent.

The parties are presently undertaking mutual due diligence as a precursor to a binding Share Purchase Deed.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

24 Related Parties

(a) The Company's main related parties are as follows:

The ultimate parent entity, which exercises control over the Company, is Oscar Churchill Pty Ltd which owns 100% of AF Legal Pty Ltd.

Key management personnel

Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the entity, is considered key management personnel.

Transactions with related parties (b) 2017 2016 Note \$ \$ **Edward Finn - Director** 39,923 Salary 3,793 Superannuation Alan Alpass-Director (1) 10,652 Salary 1,012 Superannuation 36,307 868 Consulting 3,890 2,984 Rent contribution

(c) Loans to/from related parties

Unsecured loans are made to the shareholder on an arm's length basis. Repayment terms are set for each loan, which is 7 years. Interest payable at the benchmark interest rate and payable by the end of each income year.

	Opening balance	Closing balance	Interest paid/payable
Loans to shareholders			
2017	475,002	751,516	9,419
2016	25,000	475,002	-

⁽¹⁾ Alan Alpass resigned as a Director and shareholder on 5 October 2016.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

25 Cash Flow Information

(a)	Reconciliation of result for the year to cashflows from operating a	activities	
	Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities:	2017	2016
		\$	\$
*	Net loss/(profit)	(101,580)	215,670
	Cash flows excluded from profit attributable to operating activities		
	Non-cash flows in profit:	10,047	4,125
	- depreciation	(16,885)	
	- interest capitalised into Director loan	(10,005)	(4,112)
	Changes in assets and liabilities:		
	- (increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables	348,012	(774,137)
	- (increase)/decrease in other assets	(23,753)	1000000 CT000000000
	- increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables	79,819	301,056
	- increase/(decrease) in income taxes payable	(146,441)	84,722
	- increase/(decrease) in deferred tax	33,016	(29,081)
	liability		(23,001)
	- increase/(decrease) in provisions	3,519	- 2
	 increase/(decrease) in employee benefits 	18,327	21,875
	Cashflows from operations	204,081	(191,378)
(b)	Borrowing facilities		
	The following facilities were available at the end of the reporting period:		
	The following resulting wards are and are an are an are an are are an are	2017	2016
		\$	\$
	Total facilities		
	Westpac Business One loan	1,200,000	800,000
	Banker' Undertaking -Individual limit	33,500	-
		1,233,500	800,000
	Used at reporting date		
	Westpac Business One Ioan	1,081,297	730,381
	Banker' Undertaking -Individual limit	33,500	-
		1,114,797	730,381
	Unused at reporting date		
	Westpac Business One Ioan	118,703	69,619
		118,703	69,619

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

26 Events Occurring After the Reporting Date

The financial report was authorised for issue on 30 November 2018 by the board of directors.

Other than disclosed elsewhere in this report, (particulary note 23) no matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in future financial years.

27 Statutory Information

The registered office and principal place of business of the company is:

AF Legal Pty Ltd Mezzanine level, 411 Collins Street Melbourne Victoria 3000

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Directors' Declaration

The directors of the Company declare that:

111

- the financial statements and notes for the year ended 30 June 2017 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and:
 - comply with Accounting Standards, which, as stated in basis of preparation Note 1 to the financial statements, constitutes explicit and unreserved compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS); and
 - give a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the Company;
- In the directors opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable with the continuing support of creditors.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

	12M					
Director Edward Finn					***************************************	
Dated this	30th	day of	November	2018		

MOORE STEPHENS

Moore Stephens Audit (Vic)

Level 18, 530 Collins Street Melbourne Victoria 3000 +61 (0)3 9608 0100

Level 1, 219 Ryrie Street Geelong Victoria 3220 +61 (0)3 5215 6800

victoria@moorestephens.com.au

www.moorestephens.com.au

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF AF LEGAL PTY LTD

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial report of AF Legal Pty Ltd (the Company), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes and the directors' declaration of the Company

In our opinion:

- a. the financial report of AF Legal Pty Ltd is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
 - giving a true and fair view of the Company's financial position as at 30 June 2017 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and
 - ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the *Corporations Regulations 2001*;

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report* section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor independence requirements with Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 *Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants* (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Company's annual report of the year ended 30 June 2017, but does not include the financial report and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

MOORE STEPHENS

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001, and for such internal control as the directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located on the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors responsibilities/ar4.pdf. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

MOONE STEPHENS

MOORE STEPHENS AUDIT (VIC)

ABN 16 847 721 257

RYAN LEEMON

Partner

Audit & Assurance Services

Melbourne, Victoria

30 November 2018

AF Legal Pty Ltd ABN: 44 604 485 154

Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Contents

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

	Page
Financial Statements	
Directors' Report	1
Auditor's Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001	4
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income	5
Statement of Financial Position	6
Statement of Changes in Equity	7
Statement of Cash Flows	8
Notes to the Financial Statements	9
Directors' Declaration	29
Independent Audit Report	30

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Directors' Report

30 June 2016

The directors present this report on AF Legal Pty Ltd for the financial year ended 30 June 2016.

1. General information

Information on directors

The names of each person who has been a director during the year and to the date of this report are:

Edward Finn

Managing Director (February 2015-Current)

Qualifications

Bachelor of Laws and Bachelor of Arts (Media & Communications)

from the University of Melbourne.

Bachelor of Laws and Bachelor of Art (Media & Communications)

from the University of Melbourne.

Currently holds a Principal Practising Certificate issued by the

Victorian Legal Services Board & Commissioner.

Special Resposibilities

As Managing Director of AF Legal Pty Ltd, Edward is responsible for the management, operation and strategic direction of the company.

Director (February 2015 - October 2016)

Alan Alpass Qualifications

Bachelor of Laws and Bachelor of Jurisprudence (Monash University)

Director and Principal Practitioner of AF Legal.

Special Responsibilities

Senior legal consultant to AF Legal presiding over arrange of matters in will and estate disputes and family law, drawing upon more than 40

years of legal experience.

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated.

Edward Finn (Managing Director) has been the company secretary since 27 February 2015.

Principal activities

AF Legal (also known as Australian Family Lawyers) is an Australian law firm that practises family and relationship law. The firm provides advice to clients in respect of divorce, separation, property and children's matters together with ancillary services such as estate planning and litigation.

No significant changes in the nature of the Company's activity occurred during the financial year.

2. Operating results and review of operations for the year

Operating results

The profit of the Company after providing for income tax amounted to \$ 215,670 (2015: \$ 114,877 unaudited).

Dividends paid or recommended

Dividends paid or declared during or since the end of the financial year are as follows:

A fully franked dividend of \$ 10,000 was paid during the year.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Directors' Report

30 June 2016

2. Operating results and review of operations for the year

Dividends paid or recommended

A fully franked dividend of \$ 70,000 was declared on 30 June 2016 for payment for the year ended 30 June 2016.

Review of operations

AF Legal is delighted to announce that it generated a profit (\$343k at the EBITDA level) during 2016, its first full year of operations.

This was achieved despite the challenges of commencing a new business, the recruitment of solicitors, the transition to new premises in Melbourne and the associated costs.

Whilst the profit is modest, it is testimony to the strength of the AF legal digital marketing model, and its ability to generate quality 'files' for solicitors independent of any personal networks.

AF legal will continue to refine its marketing model, attract solicitors can best services is business model and look into expansion opportunities in other states.

3. Other items

Significant changes in state of affairs

There have been no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company during the year.

Events after the reporting date

In August 2018, AF Legal entered into a non-binding Heads of Agreement with an ASX listed company, which is currently suspended from trading, to implement a proposal under which the listed company would acquire 100% of the share capital of AF Legal for a mixture of cash and share consideration. The proposal would lead to the ASX listed company changing its principal undertaking, and to commence re-trading as AF Legal, upon its reinstatement to the official list of the ASX.

Subject to regulatory (ASIC and ASX) approvals this process would prospectively occur in the first 6 months of the 2019 calendar year.

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or could significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Company in future financial years.

Future developments and results

Likely developments in the operations of the Company and the expected results of those operations in future financial years have not been included in this report as the inclusion of such information is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Company.

Environmental issues

The Company's operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulations under a law of the Commonwealth or of a state or territory of Australia.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Directors' Report 30 June 2016

Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditor

No indemnities have been given or insurance premiums paid, during or since the end of the financial year, for any person who is or has been an officer or auditor of AF Legal Pty Ltd.

Auditor's independence declaration

The lead auditor's independence declaration in accordance with section 307C of the *Corporations Act 2001*, for the year ended 30 June 2016 has been received and can be found on page 4 of the financial report.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors:

Director:	√	
Director.	Edward Finn	
30th	November day of	

MOORE STEPHENS

Moore Stephens Audit (Vic)

Level 18, 530 Collins Street Melbourne Victoria 3000 +61 (0)3 9608 0100

Level 1, 219 Ryrie Street Geelong Victoria 3220 +61 (0)3 5215 6800

victoria@moorestephens.com.au

www.moorestephens.com.au

AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER S 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 TO THE DIRECTOR OF AF LEGAL PTY LTD

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2016, there have been:

- no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and
- no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

MOONE STEPHENS

MOORE STEPHENS AUDIT (VIC) ABN 16 847 721 257

RYAN LEEMON

Partner

Audit & Assurance Services

Melbourne, Victoria

30 November 2018

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

		2016	Four months ended 2015 Unaudited
	Note	\$	\$
Sales revenue	4	2,070,944	245,255
Personnel costs	5 _	(782,182)	(11,528)
Gross profit		1,288,762	233,727
Marketing expenses		(160,590)	(15,194)
Administrative expenses		(149,113)	(7,973)
Other expenses		(228,062)	(23,938)
Depreciation		(4,125)	(663)
Bad/doubtful debts		(407,714)	(21,672)
Interest expenses	_	(24,970)	(177)
Profit before income tax		314,188	164,110
Income tax expense	6	(98,518)	(49,233)
	<u> </u>	(I)	-
Profit for the year	=	215,670	114,877
Total comprehensive income for the year	-	215,670	114,877

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Statement of Financial Position

As At 30 June 2016

	Note	2016 \$	2015 \$
ASSETS			
CURRENT ASSETS			
Cash on hand	7	234	100
Trade and other receivables	8	978,857	204,720
Other assets	11 _	13,736	2,240
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS	<u></u>	992,827	207,060
NON-CURRENT ASSETS			
Loans to Directors	9	475,002	25,000
Property, plant and equipment	10	24,212	664
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)	19 _	14,299	(14,782)
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS		513,513	10,882
TOTAL ASSETS		1,506,340	217,942
LIABILITIES CURRENT LIABILITIES Trade and other payables Borrowings Current tax liabilities Short-term provisions TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES Long-term provisions TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES	12 13 19 14 — 14 —	326,517 788,128 119,173 21,023 1,254,841 852 852 1,255,693 250,647	25,461 43,053 34,451 - 102,965 - - 102,965 114,977
EQUITY Issued capital Retained earnings TOTAL EQUITY	15 16 _ - =	100 250,547 250,647 250,647	100 114,877 114,977 114,977

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Statement of Changes in Equity

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

2	^	4	0
Z	u	1	O

2016	Note	Ordinary Shares \$	Retained Earnings \$	Total \$
	Note -	100	114,877	114,977
Balance at 1 July 2015		100	20000 20	
Profit or loss for the year		-	215,670	215,670
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners Dividends paid or provided for	20		(80,000)	(80,000)
Balance at 30 June 2016	=	100	250,547	250,647
2015		Ordinary Shares	Retained Earnings	Total
	Note	\$	\$	\$
Profit or loss for the four months period (unaudited)		- ;	114,877	114,877
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners				100
Issue of shares	-	100		100
Balance at 30 June 2015	_	100	114,877	114,977

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Statement of Cash Flows For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

	Note	2016 \$	Four months ended 2015 Unaudited \$
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING			
ACTIVITIES:			2000-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00
Receipts from customers		1,482,217	117,795
Payments to suppliers, employees and others		(1,614,174)	(134,344)
Interest paid		(24,970)	(177)
Income taxes paid	ş -	(34,451)	
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities	25	(191,378)	(16,726)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:			
Payments for property, plant & equipment		(27,673)	(1,327)
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing	-		
activities	-	(27,673)	(1,327)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:			
Related party loan		/E2E 900\	(25,000)
drawings/advances		(525,890) 53,625	(25,000) 3,605
External loan funding		55,025	100
Increase in share capital	-		100
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities		(472,265)	(21,295)
manong doubles	-		
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held		(691,316)	(39,348)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year	-	(39,348)	141
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 7	_	(730,664)	(39,348)

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

The financial report covers AF Legal Pty Ltd as an individual entity. AF Legal Pty Ltd is a for-profit proprietary Company, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.

1 Basis of Preparation

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards and the *Corporations Act 2001*.

Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless otherwise stated.

The functional and presentation currency of AF Legal Pty Ltd is Australian dollars. The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded off to the nearest dollar unless stated otherwise.

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Income Tax

The tax expense recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is comprised of current income tax expense plus deferred tax expense (being the movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities and unused tax losses during the year).

Current tax is the amount of income taxes payable (recoverable) in respect of the taxable profit (loss) for the year and is measured as the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the taxation authorities, using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Current tax liabilities (assets) are measured as the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the relevant taxation authority.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences which are determined by comparing the carrying amounts of tax bases of assets and liabilities to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and losses can be utilised.

Current and deferred tax is recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period except where the tax arises from a transaction which is recognised in other comprehensive income or equity, in which case the tax is recognised in other comprehensive income or equity respectively..

(b) Leases

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease term.

(c) Revenue and other income

Revenue comprises Legal fees and disbursement from payments on behalf of the client.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that economic

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(c) Revenue and other income

benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company and specific criteria relating to the type of revenue as noted below, has been satisfied.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is presented net of returns, discounts and rebates.

Rendering of services

Revenue in relation to rendering of services is time (hourly based) and recognised depending on whether the outcome of the services can be estimated reliably. Professional fees represent amounts chargeable to clients for professional services provided during the year inclusive of recoverable expenses. Such income is only recognised upon delivery of services.

Services provided to clients, which at balance date have not been billed, are recognised as income net of accrued non recoverable fees.

Recognition of unbilled services as revenue is based on an assessment of fair value of the service provided as a proportion and total engagement value. Where the right to receive payment is contingent on factors external to the companies' control. Revenue is only recognised (above any engagement fee) when the contingent event occurs.

(d) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value, and are subsequently reduced for estimated irrecoverable amounts. A provision for impairment and trade receivable (including work in progress) is established when there is objective evidence that the company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original term of the engagement.

Collectability is reviewed an ongoing basis. Debts known to be uncollectable are written off by reducing the carrying amounts directly. A provision raised where there is objective evidence of non-collectability.

(e) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

(f) Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).

Receivables and payable are stated inclusive of GST.

Cash flows in the statement of cash flows are included on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(g) Property, plant and equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment.

Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the assets useful life to the Company, commencing when the asset is ready for use.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable asset are shown below:

Fixed asset class

Depreciation rate

Fixtures and fittings

20%

Computer Equipment

33.33%

At the end of each annual reporting period, the depreciation method, useful life and residual value of each asset is reviewed. Any revisions are accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate.

(h) Financial instruments

Financial instruments are recognised initially using trade date accounting, i.e. on the date that the Company becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

On initial recognition, all financial instruments are measured at fair value plus transaction costs (except for instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss where transaction costs are expensed as incurred).

Financial Assets

Financial assets are divided into the following categories which are described in detail below:

loans and receivables;

Financial assets are assigned to the different categories on initial recognition, depending on the characteristics of the instrument and its purpose. A financial instrument's category is relevant to the way it is measured and whether any resulting income and expenses are recognised in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the 'finance income' or 'finance costs' line item respectively.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They arise principally through the provision of goods and services to customers but also incorporate other types of contractual monetary assets.

After initial recognition these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. Any change in their value is recognised in profit or loss.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(h) Financial instruments

The Company's trade and other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments.

In some circumstances, the Company renegotiates repayment terms with customers which may lead to changes in the timing of the payments, the Company does not necessarily consider the balance to be impaired, however assessment is made on a case-by-case basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities 'at fair value through profit or loss' or other financial liabilities depending on the purpose for which the liability was acquired. Although the Company uses derivative financial instruments in economic hedges of currency and interest rate risk, it does not hedge account for these transactions.

The Company's financial liabilities include borrowings, trade and other payables, which are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Impairment of financial assets

At the end of the reporting period the Company assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

Financial assets at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial assets original effective interest

The amount of the impairment is the difference between the net carrying amount and the present value of the future expected cash flows associated with the impaired receivable.

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against other expenses in profit or loss.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term investments which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Maturity is usually within 3 months.

For cashflow disclosure, overdrafts are considered cash.

(j) Employee benefits

Provision is made for the Company's liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to the end of the reporting period. Employee benefits that are expected to be wholly settled within one year have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.

Employee benefits expected to be settled more than one year after the end of the reporting period have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits. In

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(j) Employee benefits

determining the liability, consideration is given to employee wage increases and the probability that the employee may satisfy vesting requirements. Cashflows are discounted using market yields on high quality corporate bond rates incorporating bonds rated AAA or AA by credit agencies, with terms to maturity that match the expected timing of cashflows. Changes in the measurement of the liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Defined contribution schemes

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods in which services are provided by employees.

(k) Comparative Amounts

AF Legal Pty Ltd was registered on 27 February 2015 and as such the comparative disclosure reflect operation of the company for an initial four month period. Comparative disclosures are unaudited.

(I) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations

Accounting Standards issued by the AASB that are not yet mandatorily applicable to the Group, together with an assessment of the potential impact of such pronouncements on the Group when adopted in future periods, are discussed below:

AASB 9 Financial Instrument

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard replaces all previous versions of AASB 9 and completes the project to replace IAS 39 'Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement'. AASB 9 introduces new classification and measurement models for financial assets. A financial asset shall be measured at amortised cost, if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, which arise on specified dates and solely principal and interest. All other financial instrument assets are to be classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss unless the entity makes an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on equity instruments (that are not held-for-trading) in other comprehensive income ('OCI'). For financial liabilities, the standard requires the portion of the change in fair value that relates to the entity's own credit risk to be presented in OCI (unless it would create an accounting mismatch). New simpler hedge accounting requirements are intended to more closely align the accounting treatment with the risk management activities of the entity. New impairment requirements will use an 'expected credit loss' ('ECL') model to recognise an allowance. Impairment will be measured under a 12-month ECL method unless the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition in which case the lifetime ECL method is adopted. The standard introduces additional new disclosures. The Entity will adopt this standard from 1 July 2018 and is still assessing the impact of its adoption on the financial statements.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customer

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard provides a single standard for revenue recognition. The core principle of the standard is that an entity will recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The standard will require: contracts (either written, verbal or implied) to be identified, together with the separate performance obligations within the contract; determine the transaction price, adjusted for the time value of money excluding credit risk; allocation of the transaction price to the separate performance obligations on a basis of relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service, or estimation approach if no distinct observable prices exist; and recognition of revenue when each performance obligation is satisfied. Credit risk will be presented separately as an expense rather than adjusted to revenue. For goods, the performance

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(I) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations

obligation would be satisfied when the customer obtains control of the goods. For services, the performance obligation is satisfied when the service has been provided, typically for promises to transfer services to customers. For performance obligations satisfied over time, an entity would select an appropriate measure of progress to determine how much revenue should be recognised as the performance obligation is satisfied. Contracts with customers will be presented in an entity's statement of financial position as a contract liability, a contract asset, or a receivable, depending on the relationship between the entity's performance and the customer's payment. Sufficient quantitative and qualitative disclosure is required to enable users to understand the contracts with customers; the significant judgements made in applying the guidance to those contracts; and any assets recognised from the costs to obtain or fulfil a contract with a customer. The Entity will adopt this standard from 1 July 2018 and is still assessing the impact of its adoption on the financial statements.

AASB 16 Leases

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The standard replaces AASB 117 'Leases' and for lessees will eliminate the classifications of operating leases and finance leases. Subject to exceptions, a 'right-of-use' asset will be capitalised in the statement of financial position, measured at the present value of the unavoidable future lease payments to be made over the lease term. The exceptions relate to short-term leases of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets (such as personal computers and small office furniture) where an accounting policy choice exists whereby either a 'right-ofuse'asset is recognised or lease payments are expensed to profit or loss as incurred. A liability corresponding to the capitalised lease will also be recognised, adjusted for lease prepayments, lease incentives received, initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of any future restoration, removal or dismantling costs. Straight-line operating lease expense recognition will be replaced with a depreciation charge for the leased asset (included in operating costs) and an interest expense on the recognised lease liability (included in finance costs). In the earlier periods of the lease, the expenses associated with the lease under AASB 16 will be higher when compared to lease expenses under AASB 117. However EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation) results will be improved as the operating expense is replaced by interest expense and depreciation in profit or loss under AASB 16. For classification within the statement of cash flows, the lease payments will be separated into both a principal (financing activities) and interest (either operating or financing activities) component. For lessor accounting, the standard does not substantially change how a lessor accounts for leases. The Entity will adopt this standard from 1 July 2019 and is still assessing the impact of its adoption on the financial statements.

(m) Going concern

The statement of financial position shows a deficiency in working capital in 2016 financial year (current assets less current liabilities) of \$262,014.

The deficiency derives predominantly from the loan receivable from Directors of \$475,002 (2015: \$25,000) being classified as non-current as it is on 7 year Division 7A repayments term, (refer to note 9).

Despite the above circumstances the Director deems the going concern basis of financial statements preparation to be appropriate, noting all obligations are expected to be settled as and when they fall due and external borrowing obligations remain within terms. Further, as detailed at notes 9 and 23, should the contingent share sale take place, the Director's loan will be recovered in full from the current Director despite the non-current classification of the loan at 30 June 2018 (a condition precedent), bridging the working capital deficiency disclosed.

3 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The director makes estimates and judgements during the preparation of these financial statements regarding assumptions about current and future events affecting transactions and balances.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

3 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

These estimates and judgements are based on the best information available at the time of preparing the financial statements, however as additional information is known then the actual results may differ from the estimates.

The significant estimates and judgements made have been described below.

Key estimates - fair value of financial instruments

The Company has certain financial assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value. Where fair value has not able to be determined based on quoted price, a valuation model has been used. The inputs to these models are observable, where possible, however these techniques involve significant estimates and therefore fair value of the instruments could be affected by changes in these assumptions and inputs.

Key estimates - revenue recognition - WIP

The Company undertakes engagements which span a number of reporting periods. Recognition of revenue in relation to these contracts involves a determination of the timing for revenue earned. The assumptions are based on the information available to management, such as cost per hour and amount of hours incur in each engagement at the reporting date, however future changes or additional information may mean the expected revenue recognition pattern has to be amended and/or provided for if recoverability is uncertain (refer note 2c).

Key estimates - receivables

The receivables at reporting date have been reviewed to determine whether there is any objective evidence that any of the receivables are impaired. An impairment provision is included for any receivable where the entire balance is not considered collectible. The impairment provision is based on the best information at the reporting date.

Key judgments - taxes

Deferred tax assets

Determining income tax provisions involves judgment on the tax treatment of certain transactions. Deferred tax is recognised on tax losses not yet used and on temporary differences where it is probable that there will be taxable revenue against which these can be offset. Management has made judgments as to the probability of future taxable revenues being generated against which tax losses will be available for offset based on budgets, current and future expected economic conditions.

4 Revenue and Other Income

Revenue from continuing operations

	2016	2015 Unaudited
	\$	\$
Sales revenue - Professional fees	2,066,832	245,255
Finance income - Interest received	4,112	
Total Revenue	2,070,944	245,255

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

5 Personnel Costs

	Personnel costs include the following specific expenses:		2015
		2016	Unaudited
		\$	\$
	Wages and Salaries	457,832	9,615 1,000
	Employee benefit expenses	71,951 209,333	1,000
	Professional fees	43,066	913
	Superannuation contributions		11,528
	Total personnel costs	782,182	11,020
6	Income Tax Expense		
	(a) The major components of tax expense (income) comprise:		61 HE1
	Local income tax - current period	119,173	34,451
	Deferred tax	(29,081) 8,426	14,782
	Correction of cumulative error	0,420	
	Income tax expense for continuing operations	98,518	49,233
	(b) Reconciliation of income tax to accounting profit:		
	Prima facie tax payable on profit from ordinary activities before income tax at		
	28.5% (2015: 30%)	89,544	49,233
	Add:		
	Tax effect of:		
	- Non-deductible expenses	1,287	
		90,831	49,233
	Less:		
	Tax effect of:		
	- Prior year overprovision and error correction	8,426	-
	- Change in tax rate	(739)	(#)·
	Income tax expense	98,518	49,233
	Weighted average effective tax rate	31 %	30 %
	The increase in the weighted average effective tax rate for 2016 is a result of overprovide	sion of \$8,426.	
7	Cash in hand	- 1000 mg - 1000	
	Cash in hand	234	100
	,	234	100

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

7 Cash in hand

Reconciliation of cash

Cash and Cash equivalents reported in the statement of cash flows are reconciled to the equivalent items in the statement of financial position as follows:

	state	ment of financial position as follows.		2016 \$	2015 Unaudited \$
	Cash	on hand		234	100
	Bank	overdrafts	13 _	(730,898)	(39,448)
		nce as per statement of flows	_	(730,664)	(39,348)
8	Trad	e and Other Receivables			
	CUR	RENT			
	200,000	e receivables		995,487	154,534
	Provi	sion for impairment	(a) _	(151,374)	(21,672)
			-	844,113	132,862
	Othe	receivables (Work in progress)		121,326	66,551
		receivables (Unbilled ursements)	_	13,418	5,307
		current trade and other vables	=	978,857	204,720
	(a)	Impairment of receivables			
		Reconciliation of changes in the provision for impairment of receivables is	s as follo	ows:	
		Balance at beginning of the year		21,672	=1
		Additional impairment loss			04.070
		recognised		407,714	21,672
		Realisation of impairment	1	(278,012)	1991
		Balance at end of the year	-	151,374	21,672
		An Application of Annator Angelon, Acrostopes (Arrivation) (#2000-1929)			

(b) Credit risk

The entity has no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to any single counterparty other than those receivables specifically mentioned above. The main source of credit risk to the entity is considered to be related to class of assets described as "trade and other receivables".

The following table details the Entity's trade receivables exposed to credit risk with ageing analysis and impairment provided for thereon.

Amounts are considered as "past due" when the debt has not been settled within the term and conditions agreed between the Entity and the clients.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

8 Trade and Other Receivables

(b) Credit risk

Receivables that are past due are assessed for impairment by ascertaining solvency of the debtor and are provided for where there are specific circumstances indicating that the debt may not be fully repaid to the Entity. The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms (as detailed in the table below are considers to be high credit quality.

		2016	2015 Unaudited
		\$	\$
	0-30 days	205,497	160,596
	31-60 days	60,531	44,124
	61-90 days	95,227	-
	91+ days (not past due or not impaired)	617,602	-
	See Produceston /	978,857	204,720
9	Loans and Advances		
	NON-CURRENT Loans to Directors	475,002	25,000
		475,002	25,000

Loan to Directors are on Division 7A terms with a minimum interest term applied in accordance with legislation.

As detailed at note 2(m) despite the Director loan being classified as non-current at 30 June 2018, a requirement of the non-binding Heads of Agreement referred to is that all director's loans are required to be fully paid prior to completion. This means that the full balance may be recovered within 12 months should the term detailed at note 23 be met.

10 Property, plant and equipment

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT		
Fixtures and Fittings At cost Accumulated depreciation	15,700 (1,061)	-
Total furniture, fixtures and fittings	14,639	-
Computer equipment At cost	13,302 (3,729)	1,327 (663)
Accumulated depreciation Total computer equipment	9,573	664
Total property, plant and equipment	24,212	664

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

10 Property, plant and equipment

(a) Movements in carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the end of the current financial year:

		Fixtures and Fittings \$	Computer Equipment \$	Total
	Year ended 30 June 2016 Balance at the beginning of year	÷	664	664
	Additions	15,700	11,973	27,673
	Depreciation expense	(1,061)	(3,064)	(4,125)
	Balance at the end of the year	14,639	9,573	24,212
		Fixtures and Fittings	Computer Equipment	Total
		\$	\$	\$
	Year ended 30 June 2015 Balance at the beginning of year	_	-	₹0
	Additions	<u> </u>	1,327	1,327
	Depreciation expense		(663)	(663)
	Balance at the end of the year		664	664
11	Other Assets		2016 \$	2015 \$
			•	
	CURRENT		12,056	0 -
	Prepayments Other assets		1,680	2,240
	Triditionals: 0	.	13,736	2,240

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

12 Trade and Other Payables

	2016	2015 Unaudited	
	\$	\$	
Current			
Trade payables	152,554	S.	
Other payables	29,700	2,603	
GST payable	99,184	12,858	
Accrued expenses	45,079	-	
Payables - Related parties		10,000	
	326,517	25,461	

Trade and other payables are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are normally settled within 30 days. The carrying value of trade and other payables is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value due to the short-term nature of the balances.

13 Borrowings

Secured liabilities: Bank overdraft	730,898	39,448 3,605
Credit card Other financial liabilities	45,940 11,290	-
Total current borrowings	788,128	43,053

Facilities held with westpac include:

- Overdraft facility (800,000)
- Credit card facility (50,000)

Limit of finance agreement dated 24 December 2015 is \$800,000 limited guarantee and indemnity by Edward Finn. Total unused portions are disclosure in note 25(b).

(a) Defaults and breaches

During the current and prior year, there were no defaults or breaches on any condition contained in binding facilities.

14 Provisions

CURRENT Annual leave	21,023 -
	21,023
NON-CURRENT Long service leave	852 -
-	852 -

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

15 Issued Capital

issued Supital	2016	2015 Unaudited
	\$	\$
(2015: 100) Ordinary shares	100	100
Total	100	100

(a) Ordinary shares

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company.

(b) Capital Management

The key objectives of the Company when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern and maintain optimal benefits to stakeholders. The Company defines capital as its equity and net debt.

The company's debt and capital includes ordinary shares capital and financial liabilities, supported by financial assets.

There are not externally imposed capital requirements.

Management effectively manages the Company's capital by assessing the financial risk and adjusting its capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses include the managements of debt levels, distributions to shareholders and share issues.

There has been no change to capital risk management policies during the year. Gearing ratios are not generally applicable to services companies who customarily repatriate all retained earnings to shareholders to the extent that they are not required for immediate working capital. However the company's strategy is to ensure that its debt is no more than twice its future maintainable EBITDA, generally defined as budgeted EBITDA for the next financial year. The Debt to EBITDA ratio was less than 1 time at June 17 and June 18, based upon budgets for the succeeding financial year.

16 Retained Earnings

Retained earnings (accumulated losses) at the		
beginning of the financial year	114,877	-
Net profit	215,670	114,877
Distribution to shareholders	(80,000)	-
Retained earnings at end of the financial year	250,547	114,877

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

17 Capital and Leasing Commitments

The Company has the following commitments relating to operating lease

(a) Finance Leases

	2016	2015
	\$	\$
Minimum lease payments:		
- not later than one year	73,800	: 14
- between one year and five years	86,100	
Minimum lease payments	159,900	
Present value of minimum lease payments	159,900	

Finance lease is in place for Melbourne offcie. Lease payments are increased on an annual basis to reflect market rentals.

18 Financial Risk Management

The Company is exposed to a variety of financial risks through its use of financial instruments.

The Company's overall risk management plan seeks to minimise potential adverse effects due to the unpredictability of financial markets.

The most significant financial risks to which the Company is exposed to are described below:

Specific risks

- Liquidity risk
- Credit risk
- Market risk currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk

Financial instruments used

The principal categories of financial instrument used by the Company are:

- Trade receivables
- Cash at bank
- Bank overdraft
- Trade and other payables
- Forward currency contracts

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

18 Financial Risk Management

Loans and receivables
Financial liabilities at fair value
Financial liabilities at amortised
cost

2016	2015 Unaudited
\$	\$
1,454,093	229,820
(57,230)	(3,605)
(1,225,326)	(120,917)
171,537	105,298

Objectives, policies and processes

The Director has an overall responsibility for the establishment of AF Legal Pty Ltd's financial risk management framework. This includes the development of policies covering specific areas such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and the use of derivatives.

Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and AF Legal Pty Ltd's activities.

The day-to-day risk management is carried out by AF Legal Pty Ltd's finance function under policies and objectives which have been approved by the Director. Objetives and policies include monitoring the levels of exposure to credit and liquidity risks.

The Director receives monthly reports which provide details of the effectiveness of the processes and policies in place.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the Company's management of working capital and the finance charges and principal repayments on its debt instruments. It is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Company manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for long-term financial liabilities as well as preparing cash flow analyses in relation to its operating, investing and financing activities. At the reporting date, these reports indicate that the Company expected to have sufficient liquid resources to meet its obligations under all reasonably expected circumstances and will not need to draw down any of the financing facilities.

Financial guarantee liabilities are treated as payable on demand since AF Legal Pty Ltd has no control over the timing of any potential settlement of the liabilities. The timing of cash flows presented in the table to settle financial liabilities reflects the earliest contractual settlement dates and does not reflect management's expectations that banking facilities will be rolled forward.

The amounts disclosed in the table are the undiscounted contracted cash flows and therefore the balances in the table may not equal the balances in the statement of financial position due to the effect of discounting.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

18 Financial Risk Management

Liquidity risk

The table below reflects maturity analysis for financial assets.

	Effective Rai		Within 1	Year	Over 1	year	Tota	<u> </u>
	2016	2015	2016	2015	2016	2015	2016	2015
	%	%	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$
Financial assets - cash flows realisable			004				234	41
Cash and cash equivalents		-	234	<u>~</u>	-	-	234	3.28
Trade, term and loans receivables	Œ.	-	978,857	204,720	·	-	978,857	204,720
Loans to Director	(¥ €	-		*	475,002	25,000	475,002	25,000
Financial liabilities								
Financial liabilities	8.52	12.46	(788,128)	(42,953)			(788,128)	(42,953)
Trade payables		(=)	(326,517)	(25,461)	-	<u> </u>	(326,517)	(25,461)
Tax liabilities	(7)	15	(167,911)	(56,008)		-	(167,911)	(56,008)
Total anticipated outflows			(303,465)	80,298	475,002	25,000	171,537	105,298

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Company.

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposure to clients in the form of outstanding receivables.

The Company has adopted a policy of dealing with creditworthy clients as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. This includes initial monitoring systems to determine the client's capacity to pay. Additionally in accordance with trust guidelines relating to the administration of legal practices, customers where applicable are required to deposit sums into a trust account in advance of work being performed on a matter.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of clients. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable.

The Director receives monthly reports summarising the turnover, trade receivables balance and ageing profile of each of all matters.

Management considers that all the financial assets that are not impaired for each of the reporting dates under review are of good credit quality.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

19 Tax assets and liabilities

	(a)	Current Tax Liability		2015
			2016	Unaudited
			\$	\$
		Balance at start of the year	(34,451)	***
		Income Tax	(119,173)	(34,451)
		Tax payments	34,451	-
		Current tax liabilities	(119,173)	(34,451)
	(b)	Deferred Tax Assets		
		Deferred Tax Asset balance	63,037	6,775
		Deferred Tax Asset balance Deferred Tax Liability balance	(48,738	
		Balance at 30 June 2016	14,299	(14,782)
		Deferred tax assets	-	
		Property, plant and equipment	(6,900) -
		Employee provision	6,233	
		AccrualS	13,662	274
		Provisions - Provision for doubtful	43,142	6,501
		debts	43,142 (41,838	
		Prepayments		
		Deferred tax	14,299	(14,782)
20	Divid	ands		
20		ollowing dividends were declared		
		m franked ordinary dividend of \$100		
	per si	hare to be paid on 31 January 2016	10,000	-
		franked ordinary dividend of \$700	70,000	-
	per sl	nare		
	Total	-	80,000	
	Frank	ked dividends declared or paid during the year were franked at the tax rate of 28.5%		
21	Audi	tors' Remuneration		
			2016	2015
			\$	\$
	Rem	uneration of the auditor (Moore		
		hens), for: liting or reviewing the financial		
		ments	15,000	
	Tota		15,000	-

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

22 Fair Value Measurement

The Company measures the following assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis:

- Financial assets
- Financial liabilities

23 Contingencies

As stated in review of operations above, AF Legal entered into a non-binding Heads of Agreement with an ASX listed companywhich is currently suspended from trading, to implement a proposal under which the listed company would acquire 100% of the share capital of AF Legal for a mixture of cash and share consideration.

If AF Legal withdraws from the process in an unprescribed circumstance, or does not satisfy certain conditions of its binding condition precedents, AF Legal may be liable for a break fee not exceeding \$75,000 to the extent that the ASX listed company has incurred costs to that level pursuing the opportunity. AF Legal would be entitled to receive a break fee not exceeding \$75,000 in the reverse situation, to the extent that AF Legal incurred costs in pursuing the opportunity and the ASX listed company discontinued negotiations in an unprescribed circumstance or does not satisfy a binding condition precedent.

The parties are presently undertaking mutual due diligence as a precursor to a binding Share Purchase Deed.

24 Related Parties

(a) The Company's main related parties are as follows:

The ultimate parent entity, which exercises control over the Company, is Oscar Churchill Pty Ltd which owns 100% of AF Legal Pty Ltd.

Key management personnel

Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the entity, is considered key management personnel.

(b) Transactions with related parties

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated.

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

24 Related Parties

(b) Transactions with related parties
The following transactions occurred with related parties:

The following transactions occurred with related parties.	2016	2015
Alan Alpass- Director Consulting fee	36,307	-
Rent Contribution	3,890	-

(c) Loans to/from related parties

Unsecured loans are made to the shareholder on an arm's length basis. Repayment terms are set for each loan, which is 7 years. Interest payable at the benchmark interest rate and payable by the end of each income year.

year.	Opening balance	Closing balance	Interest paid/payable
Loans from shareholders			
2016	25,000	475,002	(*):
2015	2	25,000	144

25 Cash Flow Information

(a) Reconciliation of result for the year to cashflows from operating activities

Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

- (increase)/decrease in other assets - increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables - increase/(decrease) in income taxes payable - increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability - increase/(decrease) in employee benefits (11,496) (68,791) 301,056 25,461 44,722 34,451 (29,081) 14,782		2016	2015 Unaudited
Cash flows excluded from profit attributable to operating activities Non-cash flows in profit: - depreciation - interest capitalised into Director loan Changes in assets and liabilities: - (increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables - (increase)/decrease in other assets - increase)/decrease in other assets - increase)/decrease) in trade and other payables - increase/(decrease) in income taxes payable - increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability - increase/(decrease) in employee benefits A,125 663 (774,137) (138,169) (774,137) (138,169) (68,791) 301,056 25,461 (29,081) 14,782		\$	\$
attributable to operating activities Non-cash flows in profit: - depreciation - interest capitalised into Director loan Changes in assets and liabilities: - (increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables - (increase)/decrease in other assets - (increase)/decrease in other assets - increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables - increase/(decrease) in income taxes payable - increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability - increase/(decrease) in employee benefits 663 4,125 663 (774,137) (138,169) (68,791) 301,056 25,461 25,461 (29,081) 14,782	Net profit	215,670	114,877
- depreciation - interest capitalised into Director loan Changes in assets and liabilities: - (increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables - (increase)/decrease in other assets - (increase)/decrease in other assets - (increase)/decrease in other assets - increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables - increase/(decrease) in income taxes payable - increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability - increase/(decrease) in employee benefits 663 4,125 663 (4,112) - (138,169) (68,791) 301,056 25,461 25,461 (29,081) 14,782	5.1 (6.2)		
- interest capitalised into Director loan Changes in assets and liabilities: - (increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables - (increase)/decrease in other assets - (increase)/decrease in other assets - increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables - increase/(decrease) in income taxes payable - increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability - increase/(decrease) in employee benefits - increase/(decrease) in employee	Non-cash flows in profit:		121212
Changes in assets and liabilities: - (increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables - (increase)/decrease in other assets - (increase)/decrease in other assets - increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables - increase/(decrease) in income taxes payable - increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability - increase/(decrease) in employee benefits 21,875 - (138,169) (68,791) 301,056 25,461 301,056 25,461 (29,081) 14,782	- depreciation	4,125	663
- (increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (774,137) (138,169) - (increase)/decrease in other assets (11,496) (68,791) - increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables - increase/(decrease) in income taxes payable - increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability - increase/(decrease) in employee benefits (138,169) (68,791) (138,169) (68,791) (98,791) (138,169) (138,169) (138,169) (138,169) (138,169) (138,169) (138,169) (138,169) (138,169) (138,169) (138,169) (14,786) (14,786) (14,786) (174,137) (138,169) (174,137) (138,169) (174,137) (138,169) (14,786) (15,786) (15,786) (16,797) (17,786)	- interest capitalised into Director loan	(4,112)	-
other receivables - (increase)/decrease in other assets - increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables - increase/(decrease) in income taxes payable - increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability - increase/(decrease) in employee benefits 27,461 301,056 25,461 44,722 34,451 (29,081) 21,875 -	Changes in assets and liabilities:		
- increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables - increase/(decrease) in income taxes payable - increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability - increase/(decrease) in employee benefits 25,461 301,056 25,461 44,722 34,451 (29,081) 14,782		(774,137)	(138,169)
other payables - increase/(decrease) in income taxes payable - increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability - increase/(decrease) in employee benefits 25,461 84,722 34,451 14,782 - 11,875	- (increase)/decrease in other assets	(11,496)	(68,791)
payable - increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability - increase/(decrease) in employee benefits 21,875 -		301,056	25,461
liability (29,081) 14,782 - increase/(decrease) in employee benefits 21,875 -	payable	84,722	34,451
benefits 21,875 -		(29,081)	14,782
Cashflows from operations (191,378) (16,726)	and the state of t	21,875	-
	Cashflows from operations	(191,378)	(16,726)

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

25 Cash Flow Information

(b) Borrowing facilities

The following facilities were available at the end of the reporting period:

	2016 \$	2015 \$
Total facilities Westpac Business One loan	800,000	
Used at reporting date Westpac Business One loan	730,381	E/
Unused at reporting date Westpac Business One loan	69,619	H)
	69,619	•

26 Events Occurring After the Reporting Date

The financial report was authorised for issue on 30 November 2018 by the director.

Other than disclosed elsewhere in this report, (particulary note 23) no matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in future financial years.

27 Statutory Information

The registered office and principal place of business of the company is:

AF Legal Pty Ltd Mezzanine level, 411 Collins Street Melbourne Victoria 3000

ABN: 44 604 485 154

Directors' Declaration

The directors of the Company declare that:

- the financial statements and notes for the year ended 30 June 2016 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and:
 - comply with Accounting Standards, which, as stated in basis of preparation Note 1 to the financial statements, constitutes explicit and unreserved compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS); and
 - give a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the Company;
- In the directors' opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Director	KM			
Director			Edward Finn	
30 Dated this)th	November	2018	

MOORE STEPHENS

Moore Stephens Audit (Vic)

Level 18, 530 Collins Street Melbourne Victoria 3000 +61 (0)3 9608 0100

Level 1, 219 Ryrie Street Geelong Victoria 3220 +61 (0)3 5215 6800

victoria@moorestephens.com.au

www.moorestephens.com.au

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF AF LEGAL PTY LTD

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial report of AF Legal Pty Ltd (the Company), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2016, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes and the directors' declaration of the Company

In our opinion:

- a. the financial report of AF Legal Pty Ltd is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
 - giving a true and fair view of the Company's financial position as at 30 June 2016 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and
 - ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001;

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report* section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor independence requirements with Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 *Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants* (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter

The company was not required to prepare an audited financial report for the year ended 30 June 2015. Accordingly the corresponding figures in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income and statement of cash flows have not been audited.

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Company's annual report of the year ended 30 June 2016, but does not include the financial report and our auditor's report thereon.

MOORE STEPHENS

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001, and for such internal control as the directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located on the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors responsibilities/ar4.pdf. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

MOORE STEPHENS AUDIT (VIC)

ABN 16 847 721 257

RYAN LEEMON Partner

Audit & Assurance Services

Melbourne, Victoria

30 November 2018